



Department of Health

Practice track report for the degree of MSc Global and Public Health Policy

Exploration of Youth Drug and Alcohol Users' Experiences Accessing Mental Health Support in Swindon

Name: Ryan Herbert

Academic supervisor name: Dr Joanne Cranwell

Title of the degree: MSc Global and Public Health Policy

Project title: Exploration of Youth Drug and Alcohol Users' Experiences

Accessing Mental Health Support

Contents

Contents1	
List of Tables3	
List of Abbreviations used3	
Executive Summary4	
Introduction6	
1.1 The Public Health Challenge of Substance Misuse and Mental Health 6	j
1.2 Epidemiology of substance misuse and mental health Problems 7	
1.3 Barriers and Facilitators to Accessing mental health Support 8	
1.4 Project Aims9	
2. Project Design and Methodology10	
2.1 Ethics10	
2.2 Study Design10	
2.3 Participants11	
2.4 Recruitment11	
2.5 Data Collection12	
2.6 Data Analysis12	
3. Recommendations and Findings14	
3.1 Results14	
3.2.1 Theme 1: Complexities in Addressing young people's mental health an substance misuse15	d
3.2.2 Recommendation 1. Integrated mental health and substance misuse Support16	
3.3.1 Theme 2: Navigating Interpersonal Relationships18	
3.3.2 Recommendation 2: Catering for adverse childhood experiences 2	0
3.4.1 Theme 3: Finding the Right Door for Young Person 22	
Exploration of Youth Drug and Alcohol Users' Experiences Accessing Mental Health Support in Swindon	

1

3.4.2 Recommendation 3: Digital pathways22		
4. Limitations24		
5. Conclusion24		
Appendices48		
Appendix 1. Participant information sheet and consent form48		
Appendix 2. Interview schedule55		
Appendix 3. Table 1: Thematic map of emerging codes into theme	S.	58
Appendix 4. Emerged barriers and facilitators from data analysis	60	
Appendix 5. Additional Barrier and Facilitator Recommendations	65	
Appendix 6. Additional quotes73		

Healthwatch Swindon supported Ryan Herbert to undertake his practice track disseration with us. We are pleased to publish this report which makes up his disseration for of his Masters course at the University of Bath in Global and Public Health Policy.

List of Tables

Table 1: Thematic map of emerging codes into themes

Table 2. Participant's job role

Table 3. Barriers and facilitators to accessing support

Table 4. Additional Barriers and Facilitators to Help-Seeking and Recommendations for Future Practice

Table 5. Example table of emerging codes linked to quotes

List of Abbreviations used

Abbreviation	Meaning
МН	Mental Health
SM	Substance Misuse
YP	Young People
NHS	National Health Service
GP	General Practitioner (also know as Doctor)
CAHMS	Child and Adolescent Mental Health Sevice
ACE	Adverse childhood experiences

Executive Summary

Substance misuse and mental health disorders represent significant global public health challenges, particularly affecting young people during adolescence—a crucial developmental phase associated with the emergence of mental health issues that often coincide with highrisk substance use behaviours. Young individuals who engage in substance misuse frequently encounter considerable barriers to accessing essential mental health support. This study aims to explore the barriers and facilitators young people, engaging in substance use, face in seeking mental health services and identifying potential strategies to improve service accessibility.

This qualitative study utilised semi-structured interviews with professionals working in youth mental health and support services for individuals aged 11 to 24. Participants were recruited through snowball sampling, and interviews were conducted online via Microsoft Teams. Thematic analysis, guided by Braun and Clarke's six-step framework, enabled the identification of key patterns and themes, shedding light on the barriers and opportunities in accessing mental health services for young people.

The findings underscore the intricate challenges that young people face when seeking mental health support, particularly in the context of substance misuse. Many participants noted that young individuals often use substances as a coping mechanism for emotional distress. This behaviour complicates access to mental health services, as many providers exhibit reluctance to engage with those actively using substances, even when they express a desire for change. This service gap perpetuates a cycle of deteriorating mental health and substance misuse, leaving young people feeling unsupported and isolated. Additionally, the fragmentation between mental health and substance misuse services exacerbates these challenges, as neither system fully addresses co-occurring disorders, delaying timely, and effective treatment.

The study highlights the urgent need for integrated services that concurrently address both mental health and substance misuse.

Participants advocated for a collaborative, trauma-informed approach that can address these interconnected issues effectively. Interpersonal relationships also play a critical role in young people's willingness to seek mental health support and substance use behaviour.

Open conversations about mental health within families and peer groups can help normalise the help-seeking process; however, stigma, misunderstandings from family and friends, and the emotional burden of loved ones' struggles often hinder young individuals from pursuing care.

This study emphasises the necessity for trauma-informed, child-centred interventions that tackle both mental health and substance misuse simultaneously. Enhancing parental mental health through treatment can reduce negative outcomes for young people and help prevent adverse childhood experiences. An integrated family approach can improve treatment quality, strengthen relationships, and diminish the intergenerational transmission of psychological issues.

To improve access to services, the study underscores the importance of digital platforms that provide clear, accessible, and nonstigmatising information on mental health and substance misuse. Such resources would empower young people to seek help more proactively and make informed decisions regarding their care. Furthermore, schools and general practitioners should be equipped with updated resources to assist young individuals in navigating the complex mental health system. Enhancing these access points could significantly increase the effectiveness and timeliness of mental health interventions for young people grappling with co-occurring disorders.

Introduction

1.1 The Public Health Challenge of Substance Misuse and Mental Health

Substance Misuse and Mental Health disorders are significant global public health challenges, exerting substantial strain on individuals and healthcare systems (Saban et al., 2014; Burton et al., 2016). The bidirectional relationship between substance misuse and mental health disorders perpetuates a negative feedback loop, exacerbating the burden on affected individuals (Baigent, 2012; Ross and Peselow, 2012; Lai et al., 2015; Spencer et al., 2021; Puddephatt et al., 2021).

This dynamic is concerning among young people as despite global variation, mental health disorders frequently manifest in early adolescence, with one-third emerging by age 14 and nearly half by age 18 (Solmi et al., 2022). Mental health disorders are most prevalent among young people, with approximately one in seven meeting diagnostic criteria (Polanczyk et al., 2015).

This demographic is also disproportionately engaged in high-risk substance misuse behaviours, such as polysubstance use, further exacerbating their vulnerability (Romer, Reyna & Satterthwaite, 2017; Steinhoff et al., 2022).

Substance misuse can occur through various pathways (Spencer et al., 2021), often beginning as a maladaptive coping strategy for managing mental health symptoms (Marmorstein, 2008; Saban et al., 2014; Hawke, Wilkins & Henderson, 2022); however, sustained use often exacerbates pre-existing mental health problems and precipitates new ones (Kessler et al., 2012; Degenhardt et al., 2012). The failure to treat mental health disorders in young people is associated with various adverse outcomes, including increased substance use, self-harm and suicidal behaviour, many of which extend into adulthood (Green et al., 2005; Ford et al., 2007; Pompili et al., 2012; Riegler et al.,

2017). Moreover, the co-occurrence of substance misuse and mental health issues significantly elevates the risk of additional health complications and premature mortality (Hayes et al., 2011), as 54% of suicides among individuals with mental health issues have a history of alcohol and drug use (Appleby et al., 2016).

1.2 Epidemiology of substance misuse and

mental health Problems

In the United Kingdom, substance misuse and mental health problems impose considerable economic and social costs; alcohol-related harm is estimated to cost £21.5 billion annually, while illicit drug use and mental health disorders contribute a further £10.7 billion and £117.19 billion, respectively (PHE, 2016; PHE, 2017; McDaid et al., 2022). Among young people aged 16–24, 17.6% reported drug use in the past year, and 6.4% reported using Class A drugs- rates significantly higher than older populations (ONS, 2023). While alcohol consumption is lower in this age group, 20% still display high-risk drinking behaviours (NHS Digital, 2024). Concurrently, mental health disorders among young people have increased, with 18.0% of children aged 7 to 16 and 22.0% of young adults aged 17 to 24 identified as having a probable mental health disorder, reflecting an upward trend (NHS Digital, 2022).

These challenges are heightened by socioeconomic disparities (Barros et al., 2018). In areas of higher deprivation, such as Swindon, young people are disproportionately affected by substance misuse and mental health problems. Swindon ranks 98th among 151 uppertier local authorities for deprivation, with 9% of its areas in the most deprived decile nationally (Noble et al., 2019). In this context, an estimated 4,250 young people in Swindon have a mental health disorder, and the town records one of the highest rates of hospital admissions for self-harm among 10-24-year-olds in England (OHID, 2023).

Substance misuse is equally concerning, with cannabis, alcohol, and cocaine the most commonly reported substances among young people in treatment (Swindon Borough Council, 2024), and 59% of these individuals presenting with co-occurring mental health conditions—far exceeding the national average of 42% yet just over half were receiving mental health support (Swindon Borough Council, 2024). Indicating an unmet need for mental health and subustance abuse treatment. These statistics suggest the presence of significant barriers to accessing appropriate mental health care for those with co-occurring substance misuse and mental health problems (McGovern et al., 2014; Alsuhaibani et al., 2021).

1.3 Barriers and Facilitators to Accessing mental

health Support

Access to healthcare is defined by the interaction of service needs, availability, and ease of use (George & Rubin, 2003; Levesque, Harris, & Russell, 2013). Despite the provision of mental health care through the NHS in the United Kingdom, which focuses on equitable access (Department of Health, 2015), there remains a considerable treatment gap. Approximately 25.6% of young people requiring care do not receive appropriate support, including 16.7% who have never sought help and 9% who sought but did not receive it (Rayner et al., 2021). Much of the existing literature on access to mental health care for young people fails to adequately account for the influence of substance misuse (Gulliver, Griffiths & Christensen, 2010; Reardon et al., 2017; Aguirre Velasco et al., 2020; Radez et al., 2021; Barrow & Thomas, 2022; Cox et al., 2024), overlooking the importance of a systems-based approach that recognises the interdependent nature of substance misuse and mental health challenges (Shidhaye, 2023).

Nevertheless, the aforementioned literature commonly identified facilitators to accessing mental health support among young people,

including supportive and unbiased treatment, assurances of confidentiality, and positive prior experiences with mental health support (Gulliver, Griffiths & Christensen, 2010; Reardon et al., 2017; Aguirre Velasco et al., 2020; Radez et al., 2021; Barrow & Thomas, 2022; Cox et al., 2024). Conversely, significant barriers hinder access to these services, such as the costs associated with treatment and transportation, long waiting times, stigma, negative peer reactions, low levels of mental health literacy, and uncertainty about where to seek help. Attitudes toward mental health services are also critical, encompassing trust and confidence in professionals as well as perceptions of treatment effectiveness. Furthermore, interpersonal factors, including family circumstances, competing responsibilities, and a lack of family support, significantly impede young people's access to mental health services. Negative experiences with GPs and educational institutions, which often act as essential "gatekeepers" to mental health support, can further delay or deter young people from seeking additional assistance (O'Brien et al., 2016; Glazzard, 2019).

1.4 Project Aims

Building on the context outlined, this project seeks to investigate the perspectives of mental health service providers who work with young people engaged in drug and alcohol use. The aim is to identify the barriers and facilitators that these young people face when accessing mental health services. By gathering insights from mental health professionals, the project will explore opportunities to enhance service accessibility and delivery for this vulnerable population.

The specific aims of this project are:

- To identify the barriers that prevent young people engaged in substance use from accessing mental health services.
- To examine gaps within current services that may hinder mental health service use by young people.
- To explore potential strategies to address these barriers and improve the accessibility of mental health services.

2. Project Design and Methodology

2.1 Ethics

Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the Research Ethics Approval Committee for Health (REACH) at the University of Bath (Ref: 3502-6640).

2.2 Study Design

This qualitative study explored complex issues related to mental health service access for young people through in-depth discussions, allowing participants to express themselves in their language and enabling flexible exploration of emerging topics (Carter & Henderson, 2005). While quantitative research identifies the prevalence of barriers and facilitators in healthcare access (Corscadden et al., 2018; Ford et al., 2019; Salaheddin & Mason, 2016; Satinsky et al., 2019), qualitative research provides a deeper insight into socially situated experiences (Cleary et al., 2014). Semi-structured interviews are favoured for balancing the structure of formal interviews with the flexibility of open-ended conversations (Brinkmann, 2014). Semistructured interviews are preferable to structured interviews, which limit exploration due to rigid questioning, and unstructured interviews, which may lack focus (Hesse-Biber & Leavy, 2010; Gubrium & Holstein, 2002). This approach is suitable for generating rich, meaningful data while maintaining a clear research direction (Brinkmann, 2014). Furthermore, semi-structured interviews were chosen over focus groups as they offer deeper insights into personal experiences, particularly on sensitive topics like mental health and substance misuse (Tuckerman, Kaufman, & Danchin, 2020), and to reduce the risk of discomfort or bias that might arise in group settings (Morgan, 1992; Krueger, 2014). Interviews are particularly useful in singleopportunity studies for their reliability in gathering qualitative data (Cohen & Crabtree, 2006). Similar studies have effectively used

interviews to explore barriers and facilitators in mental health and substance misuse support, offering insights that quantitative methods might miss (McAndrew & Warne, 2014; Houghton et al., 2021; Spencer et al., 2023), and informing clinical practice strategies (Braun & Clarke, 2019).

2.3 Participants

Eligible participants included English-speaking professionals working in mental health or practical support services for young people aged 11-24, or individuals involved in the organisation and structure of mental health services, including public health professionals. These participants were selected for their direct involvement in service provision, particularly related to substance misuse, making their perspectives crucial for understanding barriers and facilitators to mental health care access (George & Rubin, 2003; Levesque, Harris, & Russell, 2013). Exclusion criteria were limited to non-English speakers.

2.4 Recruitment

Participants were recruited through snowball sampling, a method effective for reaching individuals not directly known to the researcher (Leighton et al., 2021; Naderifar, Goli, & Ghaljaie, 2017). Initial contacts referred additional participants, a common practice in qualitative research (Marcus et al., 2017; Parker, Scott, & Geddes, 2019). A list of relevant services in Swindon was obtained from Swindon Borough Council's mental wellbeing page (Swindon GOV, 2024). Invitations were emailed to these services, with follow-up reminders sent 1-2 weeks later. The email included an online information sheet and consent form outlining the study's purpose, data use, and ethical considerations (appendix 1) (Lowrance, 2012; Peter, 2015; Prasanthi et al., 2021). Interested services were asked to forward the information to eligible staff, who could then contact the researcher to schedule an interview. Interviews were conducted only after obtaining signed consent.

Exploration of Youth Drug and Alcohol Users' Experiences Accessing Mental Health Support in Swindon

2.5 Data Collection

One-to-one interviews were conducted via Microsoft Teams (Microsoft Corporation, 2024). Participants were informed about the study's purpose and asked if they were in a private space. As Microsoft Team records visual and audio, participants were informed they could turn off their cameras if preferred and were asked to reaffirm their consent to the recording, with the option to withdraw at any time. Recordings commenced only after privacy and consent were confirmed.

A semi-structured interview schedule was developed in collaboration with an academic advisor and project supervisor (appendix 2). Questions were developed from common barriers and facilitators identified in research on mental health access (Gulliver, Griffiths & Christensen, 2010; Reardon et al., 2017; Aguirre Velasco et al., 2020; Radez et al., 2021; Barrow & Thomas, 2022; Cox et al., 2024), as well as the capacity of mental health treatment to address co-occurring substance misuse treatment. (McGover et al., 2014; Alsuhabani et al., 2021; Merrick et al., 2022). Interviews began with a context-setting question (Britten, 2006), followed by core questions on barriers and facilitators to accessing mental health services. Follow-up questions were used to explore these topics further, with the interview concluding with an open-ended question for additional insights. Interview recordings were transcribed verbatim and anonymised for analysis.

2.6 Data Analysis

Thematic analysis was employed to examine the interview transcripts to uncover underlying ideas, assumptions, and ideologies shaping the data's content (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This approach was selected for its accessibility and adaptability, particularly in applied health research where complex issues arise (Braun & Clarke, 2014). Thematic analysis is suitable for early-career researchers due to its simplicity Exploration of Youth Drug and Alcohol Users' Experiences Accessing Mental Health Support in Swindon

and flexible structure, making it easier to learn and apply (King, 2004; Braun & Clarke, 2006). It effectively captures participants' perspectives, reveals patterns, and organises large data sets into clear, structured reports (King, 2004). A pragmatic approach was adopted to generate actionable insights tailored to the research context, rather than adhering to a rigid methodology (Braun & Clarke, 2021), following Braun and Clarke's six-step framework (2013): familiarisation with data, generating initial codes (inductive data driver codes, in contrast to deductive theory-drive codes) (Braun & Clarke 2006), generating themes (illustrated in table 1, appendix 3), reviewing themes, determining the significance of themes, and reporting findings.

3. Recommendations and Findings

3.1 Results

Out of eleven mental health and support services approached, seven participants consented to participate, resulting in eight interviews that captured a diverse range of perspectives. The interviews averaged 39 minutes in length (SD=~15 minutes). Table 2 provides an overview of participants' job roles, while Table 3 (Appendix 4) summarises the barriers and facilitators identified. While participants identified additional factors influencing access, these were excluded due to word count constraints. The primary aim of this project was to offer recommendations for improving access to care in Swindon. However, many of the unreported barriers and facilitators have been well-documented in previous literature (Gulliver, Griffiths & Christensen, 2010; Reardon et al., 2017; Aguirre Velasco et al., 2020; Radez et al., 2021; Barrow & Thomas, 2022; Cox et al., 2024) suggesting that these challenges are not unique to Swindon. A summary of additional barriers, facilitators, and recommendations for future practice can be found in Table 4 (Appendix 5).

Participant	Service	Job role
1	Public Health	Principle
2	Young people substance misuse	Coordinator
3	Young people substance misuse	Service Practitioner
4	Mental health	Young Persons Wellbeing Practitioner
5	Mentoring Service	Young Person Mentor
6	Mental health Service	Lead Councillor
7	School, private practice and youth development service	Councillor and youth development service mentor
8	Emotional and practical support service	Criminal justice key worker

Table 2: Participants Job Role

3.2.1 Theme 1: Complexities in Addressing young people's mental health and substance misuse

All participants acknowledged the significant challenges young people face when dealing with both mental health issues and substance misuse. Substance misuse often acts as a form of self-medication for managing emotional distress: "I don't feel the same sensation when I drink. I lose the pain that I carry with it" (P6). This short-term relief masks the long-term harm, which young people may not fully recognise: "Some young people feel it's an issue... but there's also the other side... that don't see it as an issue" (P4).

Conversely, participants expressed empathy for young people who use substances as a coping mechanism, noting that, in acute cases,

it may be a safer alternative to more dangerous behaviours such as self-harm or overdose: "If I'm not smoking weed, I will be self-harming or taking overdoses" (P2).

Although substances might provide temporary relief, they often become a barrier to accessing services. Many mental health services refuse to engage with young people who are actively using substances, even when they express readiness for help: "He was asking for this help, and it wasn't being provided" (P3).

This rejection perpetuates a cycle of substance misuse and mental health deterioration, leaving young people feeling unsupported. Participants voiced frustrations over the siloed approach between mental health and substance misuse services, which prevents cotreatment and exacerbates service gaps: "Neither service, drug and alcohol support or mental health, taking accountability" (P8).

The stigma surrounding both substance misuse and mental health adds another layer of difficulty for young people seeking help. It discourages disclosure and reinforces feelings of hopelessness: "They think it's not going to do anything. What's the point?" (P4). The lack of collaboration between services leaves young people in a state of limbo: "There's very little understanding of trauma... in any young person who's lent on drugs and alcohol" (P7).

Data analysis indicates that this lack of support creates a significant gap in providing the necessary dual care for young people, contributing to an environment where mental health struggles escalate unchecked.

3.2.2 Recommendation 1. Integrated mental health and substance misuse Support

All participants reported engaging in direct conversations with young people about substance misuse, emphasising its impact on mental health. However, most participants were limited in providing support beyond these discussions due to the constraints of their job roles. Despite the well-documented link between substance misuse and

poor prognostic outcomes- particularly when co-occurring with mental health issues- healthcare systems continue to face significant challenges in delivering adequate care to young people facing both challenges (Chen et al., 2013; Kaufmann et al., 2014). Participants in this study frequently highlighted the detrimental impact of substance misuse on mental health (Kessler et al., 2012; Degenhardt et al., 2012) yet expressed frustration over their inability to offer comprehensive support. This gap in care is especially concerning, given that substance misuse is strongly associated with worse clinical outcomes, an increased risk of suicide and the exacerbation of mental health problems (Hawton et al., 2013; Deckert & Erhardt, 2019).

Psychiatric risk assessments routinely classify substance misuse as a critical risk factor for suicide (King et al., 2017; Runeson et al., 2017). However, healthcare professionals often hold negative attitudes towards substance users (Clarke et al., 2015; Ford et al., 2008; van Boekel et al., 2013), contributing to the inadequate care provided to young people with co-occurring issues (Williams et al., 2020). Furthermore, clinicians' hesitancy to prescribe necessary pharmacotherapy for mental health issues exacerbates the care gap (Carey, 2018). This is particularly troubling in Swindon, which has one of the highest rates of hospital admissions for self-harm among young people in England (OHID, 2023). Given that self-harm is a significant risk factor for suicide (McEvoy et al., 2023), the lack of integrated support is deeply concerning.

The stigma surrounding both mental health and substance misuse not only perpetuates self-stigmatisation but also creates significant barriers to young people in seeking help (van Boekel et al., 2013). The cyclical nature of substance misuse, wherein substances are used to cope with mental health symptoms, offers temporary relief but ultimately exacerbates both conditions (Kessler et al., 2012; Hawke, Wilkins & Henderson, 2022). This dual reinforcement—where substance misuse masks underlying mental health issues—further complicates treatment access and prolongs harm (O'Donnell, 2022). Given the complex and bidirectional relationship between mental health and substance misuse (Spencer et al., 2021), these findings underscore the need for integrated, holistic interventions that address both issues simultaneously (Das et al., 2016).

The failure to provide simultaneous support for co-occurring mental health and substance misuse issues frequently delays or prevents individuals from receiving the necessary care. Stigma- both external and internal- plays a pivotal role in these delays, as young people often avoid seeking help out of fear of judgment or discrimination (Van Bokel et al., 2013). Despite policy initiatives like "no wrong door" approaches, intended to ensure integrated care regardless of entry point (PHE, 2017), mental health services often remain inaccessible until substance misuse issues are first addressed (O'Donnell, 2022).

Access to mental health services for individuals with co-occurring disorders is further obstructed by various structural barriers, including limited service availability, logistical challenges, a lack of awareness among providers regarding referral options, and insufficient training for staff to identify co-occurring conditions (Staiger et al., 2011; Priester et al., 2016). Additionally, retention rates for this population in these services are typically low (Reneses, Muñoz & López-Ibor, 2009) especially when co-occurring disorders go undiagnosed and untreated (Schulte et al., 2010). The longstanding and largely artificial division between mental health and substance misuse services further exacerbates this inadequate retention (Canaway & Merkes, 2010; Dixon, Holoshitz & Nossel, 2016). This underscores the urgent need for holistic treatment models that concurrently address mental health and substance misuse to improve access, reduce the risk of further harm and foster positive outcomes (Glover-Wright et al., 2023). This approach has shown favourable results, particularly in marginalised populations, demonstrating its effectiveness in improving access to care and treatment outcomes, even if not specifically in young people (Cooper et al., 2010; Bouchery et al., 2018; Walter et al., 2022).

3.3.1 Theme 2: Navigating Interpersonal Relationships

Interpersonal dynamics are critical in shaping a young person's willingness to seek help and can either facilitate or obstruct engagement with services depending on the social dynamics of that relationship. When families or friends are open about mental health, it

normalises conversations, making professional support more accessible:

"If you've got family members or friends who are open about their mental health... young people probably would feel like they could access services because it's talked about more" (P3).

"Friends are a big part. Like most of them will talk to their friends when it comes to family, it really does depend on who they're speaking to" (P3).

However, such openness is often lacking. A lack of understanding from families and friends can perpetuate stigma, leading young people to feel judged and discouraging them from seeking help:

"Just lack of understanding from the family around substance misuse and mental health. Really lack of support from them" (P8).

"They keep it very secret... stigma" (P4)

In some cases, family norms- particularly intergenerational substance misuse- further complicate help-seeking: "It's not okay to be smoking weed with Grandad at the weekend" (P1). Young people may also bear the emotional burden of their family members' struggles, which can inhibit their ability to seek help for their own needs: "We have young people saying, 'Mum needs support. Mum's mental health is really bad.' Often, it's the whole household" (P6).

This emotional conflict extends to peer relationships as well. Participants believe young people may feel torn between seeking help and remaining loyal to friends who are also involved in substance misuse. The fear of alienating themselves or being perceived as judgemental can hold them back: "It's a big ask... that feeling of maybe ostracising yourself or maybe being judgmental in some way of your friends or your family—there's a lot that holds people where they are" (P7).

These interpersonal dynamics often create fear of seeking help, as young people worry about inheriting mental health problems or being judged for their subustance misuse: "There's a fear of accessing

services... they think, 'I don't want to know if I'm going to develop something like that'" (P2). Participants expressed how such barriers, rooted in social norms and stigma, make it harder for young people to break out of the cycle of suubstance misuse and seek mental health support.

3.3.2 Recommendation 2: Catering for adverse childhood experiences

Participants identified the challenges young people face when attempting to change their behaviour, particularly when influenced by the attitudes and behaviours of peers who engage in substance misuse in social settings (Ivaniushina & Titkova, 2021; Motyka & Allmam, 2022). Social relationships are crucial in either promoting or preventing change, with peers both encouraging substance misuse and influencing decisions to seek mental health support among young people (Allen et al., 2012; Nasser & Overholser, 2005). Young people often prioritise seeking help from peers over professionals (Lee et al., 2009; Gabriel & Violato, 2010; Picco et al., 2016), but peer stigmatisation can delay or discourage seeking help from both peers and professionals (Vollmann et al., 2010).

Additionally, the influence of parental substance misuse is critical (McGovern et al., 2023). Participants reported supporting young people affected by ACE, which includes exposure to household dysfunction and parental substance misuse (Afifi et al., 2020; Leza et al., 2021). Despite considerable heterogeneity, with varying levels of access to drugs and study designs, research has affirmed an association of ACEs to both substance misuse and mental health issues (Afifi et al., 2012; Fuller-Thomson et al., 2016; Choi et al., 2017; Hughes et al., 2019; Bryant et al., 2020; Leza et al., 2021). Individuals with ACEs are four times more likely to experience problems with substance misuse and mental health compared to those with no ACEs (Hughes et al., 2019; Broekhof et al., 2023). Bandura's Social Learning Theory (1977) helps explain this intergenerational transmission of behaviours, suggesting that children exposed to

substance misuse may replicate these behaviours in adulthood (Neppl, Diggs & Cleveland, 2020).

Drawing from discussions in theme 1, and the use of substance misuse to mask mental health problems (O'Donnell, 2022). Qualitative studies reveal that children of parents with substance misuse often experience anxiety, anger, fear, depression, and isolation, compounded by feelings of love and loyalty toward their parents, which increase their emotional burden (Turning Point, 2006; Templeton et al., 2009; Houmøller et al., 2011). Findings from this study suggest this emotional conflict may hinder young people from seeking support and exacerbate their psychological distress.

To address these issues, prevention and early intervention strategies for young people exposed to ACEs must prioritise child-centred, trauma-informed approaches (Muir et al., 2022). These approaches should not only address the symptoms of trauma but also focus on individualised support that fosters healing and reduces the likelihood of problematic substance misuse and mental health issues (McLaughlin, Campbell & McColgan, 2016; Powell et al., 2019; Seker et al., 2020). Recognising the role of parenting in these contexts is also essential. Parental mental health issues and poor nurturing relationships are often intertwined with ACEs, while strong parent-child relationships can protect against the development of substance misuse (Hughes et al., 2019).

Improving parental mental health through treatment may reduce negative outcomes for young people and potentially prevent ACEs (Gunlicks & Weissman, 2008). An integrated family approach can enhance the quality of treatment for both parents and children, improving relationships and reducing the intergenerational transmission of psychopathology and other adverse outcomes (Stolper, Van Doesum & Steketee, 2022; 2024). Moreover, clinicians must be supported in identifying risks within families where a parent has mental health disorders, as recommended by best practices (Furber et al., 2015; Goodyear et al., 2015).

3.4.1 Theme 3: Finding the Right Door for Young Person

Participants emphasised the significant challenges young people face in navigating the mental health system, stressing the need for timely, accurate information. Awareness of available services, as well as effective information-sharing between providers, were identified as critical factors that influence whether young people engages with support and how successful that support is.

Participants sympathised with young people trying to seek help, as the mental health support system is complex. Young people and their families often struggle to find or access the right services at the right time:

"I'm not convinced that a person would know how to go about it, and maybe families too, regarding early onset mental health needs" (PI).

Clear, accessible information is essential to streamline this process, helping young people and families understand where to seek help, what support is available, and who will provide it. Schools and GP practices were identified as key entry points for support, but participants noted a lack of preparedness and knowledge at these initial stages:

"The difficulty schools have is actually adjusting to meet the needs once they've been identified" (P7).

"If doctors had more relevant information, people would be better directed to the right services instead of being given advice that's unhelpful at that point" (P6).

3.4.2 Recommendation 3: Digital pathways

Enhancing access to mental health information for young people is crucial for promoting help-seeking behaviour. Participants in this study emphasised the complexities of the mental health system and the difficulties faced by young people and their families in identifying "the right door" to access services (P1). While some young people are

aware of available services and their locations, research shows that many others remain uncertain about where to seek help (Pretorius, Chambers & Coyle, 2019). The internet serves as a vital resource for young people seeking mental health support, reflecting their reliance on digital platforms for health information (Gowen, 2013; Subramaniam et al., 2015; Best et al., 2016).

Information obtained online can facilitate positive help-seeking behaviours and attitudes (Colin et al., 2011). High-quality online mental health resources can significantly affect young people's overall health outcomes (Kauer, Mangan & Sanci, 2014). The internet's ease of access and immediacy, combined with its non-stigmatising environment, makes it particularly appealing to young people (Colin et al., 2011; Ruppel & McKinley, 2015; Best et al., 2016). Online resources can play a critical role in early intervention by facilitating the identification of concerning symptoms and encouraging connections with mental health professionals by acquiring the skills and confidence needed to seek help (Colin et al., 2011). The Internet also offers valuable information and tools for young individuals who prefer self-reliance or informal support (Ellis et al., 2013; Greidanus & Everall, 2010), to use the Internet to discover alternative coping strategies to manage their challenges (Mar et al., 2014).

Overall, the availability of high-quality mental health information and online resources has the potential to significantly impact young people's health outcomes (Kauer, Mangan & Sanci, 2014). Moreover, government websites are often underutilised as a resource for information, with participants noting that these sites frequently lack up-to-date content (Burns et al., 2010). The findings suggest that developing an online self-help resource may benefit individuals who are not yet ready to engage with professionals. Additionally, access to key information—such as wait times, service locations, session lengths, and types of therapy (e.g., well-being support, counselling, cognitive behavioural therapy)—can help young people identify the services that best meet their needs. Furthermore, online resources could support schools, general practitioners, and families in assisting young people facing difficulties, highlighting the potential value of online approaches for raising awareness, fostering understanding, and destigmatising mental illness (Budden et al., 2023).

4. Limitations

As anticipated due to the sensitive nature of the topic and time constraints, the recruitment rate was low. Although the number of interviews conducted was sufficient to achieve data saturation (Braun & Clarke, 2021), the study lacked diverse perspectives, particularly regarding CAMHS, the primary care service for young people (NHS, 2024). While participants shared their experiences of support from both the standpoint of young people and service providers (George & Rubin, 2003; Levesque, Harris, & Russell, 2013), the direct insights of the young people themselves were notably absent, potentially overlooking important experiences and needs (Appleton et al., 2021; Tunks et al., 2023). Additionally, data analysis was conducted by only one researcher, contrary to the recommendations of involving multiple researchers (Braun & Clarke, 2013). This limitation may affect the quality and validity of the findings, potentially introducing bias (Nowell et al., 2017).

5. Conclusion

This study highlights the significant challenges young people encounter in addressing mental health issues and substance misuse. Participants identified substance misuse as a prevalent coping mechanism for emotional distress, providing temporary relief that often obscures long-term harm. This reliance complicates access to mental health services, as many providers hesitate to engage with young people actively using substances. Such rejection perpetuates a cycle of deteriorating mental health and substance misuse, leaving young people feeling unsupported and isolated.

The findings emphasise the urgent need for integrated support systems that address both mental health and substance misuse concurrently. Participants expressed frustration with the fragmented approach between these services, which hinders co-treatment and reinforces stigma surrounding both conditions. This stigma

Exploration of Youth Drug and Alcohol Users' Experiences Accessing Mental Health Support in Swindon

discourages open discussions and prevents young people from seeking help, often leading to feelings of judgment and hopelessness. Therefore, fostering collaboration between mental health and substance misuse services is essential for developing holistic care pathways that effectively address the complexities of co-occurring disorders.

Interpersonal relationships significantly influence young people's willingness to seek help. Support from family and friends can normalise conversations about mental health; however, stigma and misunderstanding often impede these discussions. Increasing education and awareness among families and peers can empower young people to seek help without fear of judgment or alienation.

To enhance access to services, comprehensive, high-quality information about available resources is critical. The internet serves as a vital tool, offering young people immediate, accessible, and non-stigmatising information. Developing robust online resources can significantly improve young people's health outcomes and help destigmatise mental illness. Additionally, equipping schools and GPs with relevant knowledge and resources is vital for guiding young people through the complex mental health landscape.

In conclusion, a coordinated effort to integrate services, educate communities, and utilise digital platforms is essential. This holistic approach can enhance access to care and foster an environment that encourages young people to seek help, ultimately improving their overall well-being.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my gratitude to my tutor, academic advisor, and project supervisor, as well as the staff at Healthwatch Swindon, for their invaluable support in making this project possible and for their guidance throughout the process.

Reference List

Saban, A., Flisher, A.J., Grimsrud, A., Morojele, N., London, L., Williams, D.R. and Stein, D.J., 2014. The association between substance use and common mental disorders in young adults: results from the South African Stress and Health (SASH) Survey. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, 17(Suppl 1).

Burton, R., Henn, C., Lavoie, D., O'Connor, R., Perkins, C., Sweeney, K., Greaves, F., Ferguson, B., Beynon, C., Belloni, A. and Musto, V., 2016. The public health burden of alcohol and the effectiveness and costeffectiveness of alcohol control policies: an evidence review. pp.241.

Baigent, M., 2012. Managing patients with dual diagnosis in psychiatric practice. *Current opinion in psychiatry*, 25(3), pp.201-205.

Ross, S. and Peselow, E., 2012. Co-occurring psychotic and addictive disorders: neurobiology and diagnosis. *Clinical* neuropharmacology, 35(5), pp.235-243.

Lai, H.M.X., Cleary, M., Sitharthan, T. and Hunt, G.E., 2015. Prevalence of comorbid substance use, anxiety and mood disorders in epidemiological surveys, 1990–2014: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 154, pp.1-13.

Spencer, L.P., Addison, M., Alderson, H., McGovern, W., McGovern, R., Kaner, E. and O'Donnell, A., 2021. 'The drugs did for me what I couldn't do for myself': A qualitative exploration of the relationship between mental health and amphetamine-type stimulant (ATS) use. Substance abuse: research and treatment, 15, p.11782218211060852.

Puddephatt, J.A., Jones, A., Gage, S.H., Fear, N.T., Field, M., McManus, S., McBride, O. and Goodwin, L., 2021. Associations of alcohol use, mental health and socioeconomic status in England: findings from a representative population survey. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 219, p.108463.

Solmi, M., Radua, J., Olivola, M., Croce, E., Soardo, L., Salazar de Pablo, G., Il Shin, J., Kirkbride, J.B., Jones, P., Kim, J.H. and Kim, J.Y., 2022. Age at

onset of mental disorders worldwide: large-scale meta-analysis of 192 epidemiological studies. *Molecular psychiatry*, 27(1), pp.281-295.

Polanczyk, G.V., Salum, G.A., Sugaya, L.S., Caye, A. and Rohde, L.A., 2015. Annual research review: A meta-analysis of the worldwide prevalence of mental disorders in children and adolescents. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry*, 56(3), pp.345-365.

Romer, D., Reyna, V.F. and Satterthwaite, T.D., 2017. Beyond stereotypes of adolescent risk taking: Placing the adolescent brain in developmental context. *Developmental cognitive neuroscience*, 27, pp.19-34.

Steinhoff, A., Bechtiger, L., Ribeaud, D., Eisner, M.P., Quednow, B.B. and Shanahan, L., 2022. Polysubstance use in early adulthood: Patterns and developmental precursors in an urban cohort. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 15, p.797473.

Marmorstein, N.R., 2009. Longitudinal associations between alcohol problems and depressive symptoms: early adolescence through early adulthood. *Alcoholism*: *Clinical and Experimental Research*, 33(1), pp.49-59.

Hawke, L.D., Wilkins, L. and Henderson, J., 2020. Early cannabis initiation: Substance use and mental health profiles of service-seeking youth. *Journal of Adolescence*, 83, pp.112-121.

Kessler, R.C., Avenevoli, S., Costello, E.J., Georgiades, K., Green, J.G., Gruber, M.J., He, J.P., Koretz, D., McLaughlin, K.A., Petukhova, M. and Sampson, N.A., 2012. Prevalence, persistence, and sociodemographic correlates of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication Adolescent Supplement. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 69(4), pp.372-380.

Degenhardt, L., Hall, W., Lynskey, M., Coffey, C. and Patton, G., 2012. The association between cannabis use and depression: a review of evidence. *Marijuana and madness*, 114, p.128.

Green, H. ed., 2005. *Mental health of children and young people in Great Britain, 2004* (Vol. 175). Basingstoke: Palgrave macmillan.

Ford, T., Collishaw, S., Meltzer, H. and Goodman, R., 2007. A prospective study of childhood psychopathology: independent predictors of change over three years. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 42, pp.953-961.

Pompili, M., Serafini, G., Innamorati, M., Biondi, M., Siracusano, A., Di Giannantonio, M., Giupponi, G., Amore, M., Lester, D., Girardi, P. and Möller-Leimkühler, A.M., 2012. Substance abuse and suicide risk among adolescents. *European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience*, 262, pp.469-485.

Riegler, A., Völkl-Kernstock, S., Lesch, O., Walter, H. and Skala, K., 2017. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and substance abuse: An investigation in young Austrian males. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 217, pp.60-65.

Hayes, R.D., Chang, C.K., Fernandes, A., Broadbent, M., Lee, W., Hotopf, M. and Stewart, R., 2011. Associations between substance use disorder sub-groups, life expectancy and all-cause mortality in a large British specialist mental healthcare service. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 118(1), pp.56-61.

Appleby, L., Kapur, N., Shaw, J., Hunt, I. M., Flynn, S., Ibrahim, S., Turnbull, P., & Gianatsi, M., 2016. The National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness. Making Mental Health Care Safer. Annual Report and 20-year Review [Online]. England: The University of Manchester. Available from: https://pure.manchester.ac.uk/ws/portalfiles/portal/70178282/2016_report.pdf [Accessed 28 September 2024].

Public Health England, 2016. The Public Health Burden of Alcohol and the Effectiveness and Cost-Effectiveness of Alcohol Control Policies An evidence review [Online]. England: Public Health England. Available from: Alcohol public health burden evidence review 2016 (publishing.service.gov.uk) [Accessed 28 September 2024]

Public Health England, 2017. An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England [Online]. England: Public Health England. Available from: An evidence review of the outcomes that can be expected of drug misuse treatment in England (publishing.service.gov.uk) [Accessed 28 September 2024]

McDaid D., Park A.-L., Davidson G., John A., Knifton L., McDaid S., Morton A., Thorpe L., Wilson N, 2022. *The Economic Case for Investing in the Prevention of Mental Health Conditions in the UK* [Online]. England: London School of Economics and Political Science. Available from: https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-06/MHF-Investing-in-Prevention-Full-Report.pdf [Accessed 28 September 2024].

Office for National Statistics, 2023. *Drug misuse in England and Wales:* year ending March 2023 [Online]. England: ONS website. Available from: <u>Drug misuse in England and Wales: year ending March 2023</u> [Accessed 28 September 2024].

NHS Digital, 2024. *Health Survey for England, 2022 Part 1* [Online]. England: NHS Digital. Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-england/2022-part-1/adult-drinking [Accessed 28 September 2024]

NHS Digital, 2022. Mental Health of Children and Young People in England 2022 - wave 3 follow up to the 2017 survey [Online]. England: NHS Digital. Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-inengland/2022-follow-up-to-the-2017-survey [Accessed 28 September 2024]

Barros, F.C., Matijasevich, A., Santos, I.S., Horta, B.L., da Silva, B.G.C., Munhoz, T.N., Fazel, S., Stein, A., Pearson, R.M., Anselmi, L. and Rohde, L.A., 2018. Social inequalities in mental disorders and substance misuse in young adults: a birth cohort study in Southern Brazil. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, 53, pp.717-726.

Noble, S., McLennan, D., Noble, M., Plunkett, E., Gutacker, N., Silk, M. and Wright, G., 2019. The English indices of deprivation 2019. *Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government*.

Department of Health & Social Care, 2023. Children and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing [Online]. England: Fingertips Public Health Profiles. Available from: Children and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing | Fingertips | Department of Health and Social Care (phe.org.uk) [Accessed 28 September 2024]

Swindon Borough council, 2024. *Joint Strategic Needs Assessment* (*JSNA*) for Swindon [Online]. Swindon: Swindon Borough Council. Available from: https://www.swindonjsna.co.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2024/04/Swindon-JSNA-post-2021-census-update-2024.pdf [Accessed 28 September 2024]

McGovern, M.P., Lambert-Harris, C., Gotham, H.J., Claus, R.E. and Xie, H., 2014. Dual diagnosis capability in mental health and addiction treatment services: an assessment of programs across multiple state systems. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 41, pp.205-214.

Alsuhaibani, R., Smith, D.C., Lowrie, R., Aljhani, S. and Paudyal, V., 2021. Scope, quality and inclusivity of international clinical guidelines on mental health and substance abuse in relation to dual diagnosis, social and community outcomes: a systematic review. *BMC* psychiatry, 21(1), p.209.

George, A. and Rubin, G., 2003. Non-attendance in general practice: a systematic review and its implications for access to primary health care. *Family practice*, 20(2), pp.178-184.

Levesque, J.F., Harris, M.F. and Russell, G., 2013. Patient-centred access to health care: conceptualising access at the interface of health systems and populations. *International journal for equity in health*, 12, pp.1-9.

Department of Health, 2015. *The NHS Constitution for England* [Online]. England: Department of Health. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england/the-nhs-constitution-for-england [Accessed 28 September 2024]

Rayner, C., Coleman, J.R., Purves, K.L., Carr, E., Cheesman, R., Davies, M.R., Delgadillo, J., Hübel, C., Krebs, G., Peel, A.J. and Skelton, M., 2021. Sociodemographic factors associated with treatment-seeking and treatment receipt: cross-sectional analysis of UK Biobank participants with lifetime generalised anxiety or major depressive disorder. *BJPsych Open*, 7(6), p.e216.

Gulliver, A., Griffiths, K.M. and Christensen, H., 2010. Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people: a systematic review. *BMC psychiatry*, 10, pp.1-9.

Reardon, T., Harvey, K., Baranowska, M., O'brien, D., Smith, L. and Creswell, C., 2017. What do parents perceive are the barriers and

facilitators to accessing psychological treatment for mental health problems in children and adolescents? A systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 26, pp.623-647.

Aguirre Velasco, A., Cruz, I.S.S., Billings, J., Jimenez, M. and Rowe, S., 2020. What are the barriers, facilitators and interventions targeting help-seeking behaviours for common mental health problems in adolescents? A systematic review. *BMC psychiatry*, 20, pp.1-22.

Radez, J., Reardon, T., Creswell, C., Lawrence, P.J., Evdoka-Burton, G. and Waite, P., 2021. Why do children and adolescents (not) seek and access professional help for their mental health problems? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 30(2), pp.183-211.

Barrow, E. and Thomas, G., 2022. Exploring perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in adolescents: a systematic literature review. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, 38(2), pp.173-193.

Cox, J.A., Mills, L., Hermens, D.F., Read, G.J. and Salmon, P.M., 2024. A systematic review of the facilitators and barriers to help-seeking for self-harm in young people: A systems thinking perspective. *Adolescent Research Review*, pp.1-24.

Shidhaye, R., 2023. Global priorities for improving access to mental health services for adolescents in the post-pandemic world. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, p.101661.

O'Brien, D., Harvey, K., Howse, J., Reardon, T. and Creswell, C., 2016. Barriers to managing child and adolescent mental health problems: a systematic review of primary care practitioners' perceptions. *British Journal of General Practice*, 66(651), pp.e693-e707.

Glazzard, J., 2019. A whole-school approach to supporting children and young people's mental health. *Journal of Public Mental Health*, 18(4), pp.256-265.

Carter, S. and Henderson, L., 2005. Approaches to qualitative data collection in social science. *Handbook of health research methods: Investigation, measurement and analysis*, 1, pp.215-230.

Corscadden, L., Levesque, J.F., Lewis, V., Strumpf, E., Breton, M. and Russell, G., 2018. Factors associated with multiple barriers to access to primary care: an international analysis. *International journal for equity in health*, 17, pp.1-10.

Ford, E., Roomi, H., Hugh, H. and van Marwijk, H., 2019. Understanding barriers to women seeking and receiving help for perinatal mental health problems in UK general practice: development of a questionnaire. *Primary health care research & development*, 20, p.e156.

Salaheddin, K. and Mason, B., 2016. Identifying barriers to mental health help-seeking among young adults in the UK: a cross-sectional survey. *British Journal of General Practice*, 66(651), pp.e686-e692.

Satinsky, E., Fuhr, D.C., Woodward, A., Sondorp, E. and Roberts, B., 2019. Mental health care utilisation and access among refugees and asylum seekers in Europe: a systematic review. *Health Policy*, 123(9), pp.851-863.

Cleary, M., Escott, P., Horsfall, J., Walter, G. and Jackson, D., 2014. Qualitative research: the optimal scholarly means of understanding the patient experience. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 35(11), pp.902-904.

Brinkmann, S., 2014. Unstructured and semi-structured interviewing. *The Oxford handbook of qualitative research*, 2, pp.277-299.

Hesse-Biber, S.N. and Leavy, P. eds., 2010. *Handbook of emergent methods*. Guilford Press.

Gubrium, J.F. and Holstein, J.A. eds., 2002. *Handbook of interview research: Context and method.* Sage.

Tuckerman, J., Kaufman, J. and Danchin, M., 2020. How to use qualitative methods for health and health services research. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 56(5), pp.818-820.

Morgan, D.L., 1992. Designing focus group research.

Krueger, R.A., 2014. Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research. Sage publications.

Cohen D., Crabtree B. 2006. Qualitative Research Guidelines Project [Online]. Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Available from: http://www.qualres.org/ [Accessed 27 September 2024]

McAndrew, S. and Warne, T., 2014. Hearing the voices of young people who self-harm: Implications for service providers. *International journal of mental health nursing*, 23(6), pp.570-579.

Houghton, B., Bailey, A., Kouimtsidis, C., Duka, T. and Notley, C., 2021. Perspectives of drug treatment and mental health professionals towards treatment provision for substance use disorders with coexisting mental health problems in England. *Drug Science, Policy and Law*, 7, p.20503245211055382.

Spencer, L., Alderson, H., Scott, S., Kaner, E. and Ling, J., 2023. 'The Addiction Was Making Things Harder for My Mental Health': A Qualitative Exploration of the Views of Adults and Adolescents Accessing a Substance Misuse Treatment Service. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(11), p.5967.

Braun, V. and Clarke, V., 2019. Novel insights into patients' life-worlds: the value of qualitative research. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 6(9), pp.720-721.

Leighton, K., Kardong-Edgren, S., Schneidereith, T. and Foisy-Doll, C., 2021. Using social media and snowball sampling as an alternative recruitment strategy for research. *Clinical simulation in nursing*, 55, pp.37-42.

Naderifar, M., Goli, H. and Ghaljaie, F., 2017. Snowball sampling: A purposeful method of sampling in qualitative research. *Strides in development of medical education*, 14(3).

Marcus, B., Weigelt, O., Hergert, J., Gurt, J. and Gelléri, P., 2017. The use of snowball sampling for multi source organizational research: Some cause for concern. *Personnel Psychology*, 70(3), pp.635-673.

Parker, C., Scott, S. and Geddes, A., 2019. Snowball sampling. SAGE research methods foundations.

Swindon Borough Council, 2024. *Mental wellbeing* [Online]. Gov.UK. Available from:

https://www.swindon.gov.uk/info/20024/health_and_wellbeing/214/mental_wellbeing/2 [Accessed 27 September 2024].

Lowrance, W.W., 2012. Privacy, confidentiality, and health research. *Cambridge University Press*. 20th ed.

Peter, E., 2015. The ethics in qualitative health research: special considerations. *Ciencia & saúde coletiva*, 20, pp.2625-2630.

Prasanthi, P., Kumar, G., Kumar, S. and Yalawar, M.S., 2020. Privacy and challenges to data-intensive techniques. In *Cyber Defense Mechanisms*. pp. 157-170. CRC Press.

Microsoft Corporation, 2024. *Microsoft Teams*. Version 24193.1707.3028.4282. Available at: https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/microsoft-teams/group-chat-software [Accessed: 29 September 2024].

Merrick, T. T., Louie, E., Cleary, M., Molloy, L., Baillie, A., Haber, P., & Morley, K. C. (2022). A systematic review of the perceptions and attitudes of mental health nurses towards alcohol and other drug use in mental health clients. *International journal of mental health nursing*, 31(6), 1373–1389. https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.13043

Collins, S. and Britten, N., 2006. Conversation analysis. *Qualitative research in health care*, pp.43-52.

Braun, V. and Clarke, V., 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, 3(2), pp.77-101.

Braun V., Clarke V., 2014. What can "thematic analysis" offer health and wellbeing researchers? *Int. J. Qual. Stud. Health Well-Being*, 9:26152. doi: 10.3402/qhw.v9.26152.

King N., 2004. Using templates in the thematic analysis of text. *Essential guide to qualitative methods in organizational research*. London, UK: Sage, pp. 257–270.

Braun, V. and Clarke, V., 2021. Can I use TA? Should I use TA? Should I not use TA? Comparing reflexive thematic analysis and other pattern-based qualitative analytic approaches. *Counselling and psychotherapy research*, 21(1), pp.37-47.

Clarke, V. and Braun, V., 2013. Teaching thematic analysis: Overcoming challenges and developing strategies for effective learning. *The psychologist*, 26(2), pp.120-123.

Health Education England, 2019. NHS Staff and Learners' Mental Wellbeing Commission [Online]. Birmingham: HEE. Available from: www.hee.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/documents/NHS%20%28HEE%29%20-%20Mental%20Wellbeing%20Commission%20Report.pdf [Accessed 29 September 2024].

Wheeler, S. and Richards, K., 2007. The impact of clinical supervision on counsellors and therapists, their practice and their clients. A systematic review of the literature. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research*, 7(1), pp.54-65.

Wallbank, S., 2013. Maintaining professional resilience through group restorative supervision. *Community Practitioner*, 86(8), pp.26-28.

Anderson, J.K., Howarth, E., Vainre, M., Jones, P.B. and Humphrey, A., 2017. A scoping literature review of service-level barriers for access and engagement with mental health services for children and young people. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 77, pp.164-176.

YoungMinds, 2019. A New Era for Young People's Mental Health [Online]. YoungMinds. Available from: <u>CAMHS Report.indd</u> (youngminds.org.uk) [Accessed 27 September 2024].

Wolpert, M., Dalzell, K., Ullman, R., Garland, L., Cortina, M., Hayes, D., Patalay, P. and Law, D., 2019. Strategies not accompanied by a mental health professional to address anxiety and depression in children and young people: a scoping review of range and a systematic review of effectiveness. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 6(1), pp.46-60. Colizzi, M., Lasalvia, A. and Ruggeri, M., 2020. Prevention and early

intervention in youth mental health: is it time for a multidisciplinary and trans-diagnostic model for care?. *International journal of mental health systems*, 14, pp.1-14.

Sylwestrzak, A., Overholt, C.E., Ristau, K.I. and Coker, K.L., 2015. Self-reported barriers to treatment engagement: adolescent perspectives from the National Comorbidity Survey-Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A). *Community Mental Health Journal*, 51, pp.775-781.

Lubman, D.I., Cheetham, A., Jorm, A.F., Berridge, B.J., Wilson, C., Blee, F., Mckay-Brown, L., Allen, N. and Proimos, J., 2017. Australian adolescents' beliefs and help-seeking intentions towards peers experiencing symptoms of depression and alcohol misuse. *BMC public health*, 17, pp.1-12.

McCann, T.V. and Lubman, D.I., 2012. Young people with depression and their experience accessing an enhanced primary care service for youth with emerging mental health problems: a qualitative study. *BMC psychiatry*, 12, pp.1-9.

Hodges, C.A., O'Brien, M.S. and McGorry, P.D., 2007. headspace: National Youth Mental Health Foundation: making headway with rural young people and their mental health. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, 15(2), pp.77-80.

Mackett, R.L., 2021. Policy interventions to facilitate travel by people with mental health conditions. *Transport policy*, 110, pp.306-313.

Freake, H., Barley, V. and Kent, G., 2007. Adolescents' views of helping professionals: A review of the literature. *Journal of adolescence*, 30(4), pp.639-653.

Lavis P., Hewson L., 201). How many times do we have to tell you. *Young Minds Magazine*, 109, pp.30-31.

Corker, E., Hamilton, S., Henderson, C., Weeks, C., Pinfold, V., Rose, D., Williams, P., Flach, C., Gill, V., Lewis-Holmes, E. and Thornicroft, G., 2013. Experiences of discrimination among people using mental health services in England 2008-2011. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 202(s55), pp.s58-s63.

Knaack, S., Szeto, A., Kassam, A., Hamer, A., Modgill, G. and Patten, S., 2017. Understanding stigma: a pooled analysis of a national program aimed at health care providers to reduce stigma towards patients with a mental illness. *Journal of Mental Health and Addiction Nursing*, 1(1), pp.e19-e29.

Reale, L. and Bonati, M., 2015. Mental disorders and transition to adult mental health services: A scoping review. *European Psychiatry*, 30(8), pp.932-942.

Coppens, E., Vermet, I., Knaeps, J., De Clerck, M., De Schrijver, I., Matot, J.P. and Van Audenhove, C., 2015. ADOCARE—A preparatory action related to the creation of an EU network of experts in the field of adapted care for adolescents with mental health problems.

McNicholas, F., Adamson, M., McNamara, N., Gavin, B., Paul, M., Ford, T., Barry, S., Dooley, B., Coyne, I., Cullen, W. and Singh, S.P., 2015. Who is in the transition gap? Transition from CAMHS to AMHS in the Republic of Ireland. *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 32(1), pp.61-69.

McNamara, N., Coyne, I., Ford, T., Paul, M., Singh, S. and McNicholas, F., 2017. Exploring social identity change during mental healthcare transition. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 47(7), pp.889-903.

Cappelli, M., Davidson, S., Racek, J., Leon, S., Vloet, M., Tataryn, K., Gillis, K., Freeland, A., Carver, J., Thatte, S. and Lowe, J., 2016. Transitioning youth into adult mental health and addiction services: an outcomes evaluation of the youth transition project. *The journal of behavioral health services & research*, 43, pp.597-610.

Henderson, J.L., Cheung, A., Cleverley, K., Chaim, G., Moretti, M.E., de Oliveira, C., Hawke, L.D., Willan, A.R., O'Brien, D., Heffernan, O. and Herzog, T., 2017. Integrated collaborative care teams to enhance service delivery to youth with mental health and substance use challenges: protocol for a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *BMJ open*, 7(2), p.e014080.

Slade, P., Morrell, C.J., Rigby, A., Ricci, K., Spittlehouse, J. and Brugha, T.S., 2010. Postnatal women's experiences of management of depressive symptoms: a qualitative study. *British Journal of General Practice*, 60(580), pp.e440-e448.

Barnes, M.C., Kessler, D., Archer, C. and Wiles, N., 2019. Prioritising physical and psychological symptoms: what are the barriers and facilitators to the discussion of anxiety in the primary care consultation?. *BMC Family Practice*, 20, pp.1-10.

Robinson, K.J., Rose, D. and Salkovskis, P.M., 2017. Seeking help for obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD): a qualitative study of the enablers and barriers conducted by a researcher with personal

experience of OCD. Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 90(2), pp.193-211.

Williams, C.J., Turner, K.M., Burns, A., Evans, J. and Bennert, K., 2016. Midwives and women's views on using UK recommended depression case finding questions in antenatal care. *Midwifery*, 35, pp.39-46.

Barnes, M.C., Donovan, J.L., Wilson, C., Chatwin, J., Davies, R., Potokar, J., Kapur, N., Hawton, K., O'Connor, R. and Gunnell, D., 2017. Seeking help in times of economic hardship: access, experiences of services and unmet need. *BMC psychiatry*, 17, pp.1-14.

Machin, A., Hider, S., Dale, N. and Chew-Graham, C., 2017. Improving recognition of anxiety and depression in rheumatoid arthritis: a qualitative study in a community clinic. *British Journal of General Practice*, 67(661), pp.e531-e537.

Oh, S., Chew-Graham, C.A., Silverwood, V., Shaheen, S.A., Walsh-House, J., Sumathipala, A. and Kingstone, T., 2020. Exploring women's experiences of identifying, negotiating and managing perinatal anxiety: a qualitative study. *BMJ open*, 10(12), p.e040731.

Chen, L.Y., Crum, R.M., Martins, S.S., Kaufmann, C.N., Strain, E.C. and Mojtabai, R., 2013. Service use and barriers to mental health care among adults with major depression and comorbid substance dependence. *Psychiatric services*, 64(9), pp.863-870.

Kaufmann, C.N., Chen, L.Y., Crum, R.M. and Mojtabai, R., 2014. Treatment seeking and barriers to treatment for alcohol use in persons with alcohol use disorders and comorbid mood or anxiety disorders. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, 49, pp.1489-1499.

Hawton, K., i Comabella, C.C., Haw, C. and Saunders, K., 2013. Risk factors for suicide in individuals with depression: a systematic review. *Journal of affective disorders*, 147(1-3), pp.17-28.

Deckert, J. and Erhardt, A., 2019. Predicting treatment outcome for anxiety disorders with or without comorbid depression using clinical, imaging and (epi) genetic data. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 32(1), pp.1-6.

King, C.A., Horwitz, A., Czyz, E. and Lindsay, R., 2017. Suicide risk screening in healthcare settings: identifying males and females at risk. *Journal of clinical psychology in medical settings*, 24, pp.8-20.

Runeson, B., Odeberg, J., Pettersson, A., Edbom, T., Jildevik Adamsson, I. and Waern, M., 2017. Instruments for the assessment of suicide risk: A systematic review evaluating the certainty of the evidence. *PLoS one*, 12(7), p.e0180292.

Clarke, D.E., Gonzalez, M., Pereira, A., Boyce-Gaudreau, K., Waldman, C. and Demczuk, L., 2015. The impact of knowledge on attitudes of emergency department staff towards patients with substance related presentations: a quantitative systematic review protocol. *JBI Evidence Synthesis*, 13(10), pp.133-145.

Ford, R., Bammer, G. and Becker, N., 2008. The determinants of nurses' therapeutic attitude to patients who use illicit drugs and implications for workforce development. *Journal of clinical nursing*, 17(18), pp.2452-2462.

Van Boekel, L.C., Brouwers, E.P., Van Weeghel, J. and Garretsen, H.F., 2013. Stigma among health professionals towards patients with substance use disorders and its consequences for healthcare delivery: systematic review. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 131(1-2), pp.23-35.

Williams, R., Farquharson, L., Rhodes, E., Dang, M., Butler, J., Quirk, A., Baldwin, D.S. and Crawford, M.J., 2021. Impact of substance use disorder on quality of inpatient mental health services for people with anxiety and depression. *Journal of dual diagnosis*, 17(1), pp.80-93.

Carey, Theadia L, 2019. Use of antidepressants in patients with co-occurring depression and substance use disorders. *Antidepressants:* From Biogenic Amines to New Mechanisms of Action, 359-370.

McEvoy, D., Brannigan, R., Cooke, L., Butler, E., Walsh, C., Arensman, E. and Clarke, M., 2023. Risk and protective factors for self-harm in adolescents and young adults: an umbrella review of systematic reviews. *Journal of psychiatric research*.

O'Donnell, A, 2022. The ADEPT (Alcohol Use Disorder and Depression Prevention and Treatment) Study—Experiences of Getting Help for

Heavy Drinking and Depression [Online]; National Institute for Health and Care Research: Newcastle, Available from:

 $\underline{https://www.lisbonaddictions.eu/lisbon-addictions-}$

2022/sites/lisbonaddictions.eu.lisbon-addictions-

2022/files/24%20%20A4%20%201500%20%20Amy%20O%27Donnell_v1.0.pdf [Accessed 27 September 2024].

Das, P., Naylor, C. and Majeed, A., 2016. Bringing together physical and mental health within primary care: a new frontier for integrated care. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 109(10), pp.364-366.

Public Health England, 2017. Better Care for People with Co-Occurring Mental Health and Alcohol/Drug Use Conditions: A Guide for Commissioners and Service Providers [Online]. Public Health England: London, UK. Available

 $from: \underline{https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/atachment \ data/file/625809/Co-$

occurring mental health and alcohol drug use conditions.pdf (accessed 27 September 2024).

Staiger, P.K., Thomas, A.C., Ricciardelli, L.A., Mccabe, M.P., Cross, W. and Young, G., 2011. Improving services for individuals with a dual diagnosis: A qualitative study reporting on the views of service users. *Addiction research & theory*, 19(1), pp.47-55.

Priester, M.A., Browne, T., Iachini, A., Clone, S., DeHart, D. and Seay, K.D., 2016. Treatment access barriers and disparities among individuals with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders: an integrative literature review. *Journal of substance abuse treatment*, 61, pp.47-59.

Reneses, B., Munoz, E. and Lopez-Ibor, J.J., 2009. Factors predicting drop-out in community mental health centres. *World Psychiatry*, 8(3), p.173.

Schulte, S.J., Meier, P.S., Stirling, J. and Berry, M., 2010. Unrecognised dual diagnosis—a risk factor for dropout of addiction treatment. *Mental Health and Substance Use: Dual Diagnosis*, 3(2), pp.94-109.

Canaway, R. and Merkes, M., 2010. Barriers to comorbidity service delivery: the complexities of dual diagnosis and the need to agree on

terminology and conceptual frameworks. *Australian Health Review*, 34(3), pp.262-268.

Dixon, L.B., Holoshitz, Y. and Nossel, I., 2016. Treatment engagement of individuals experiencing mental illness: review and update. *World Psychiatry*, 15(1), pp.13-20.

Glover-Wright, C., Coupe, K., Campbell, A.C., Keen, C., Lawrence, P., Kinner, S.A. and Young, J.T., 2023. Health outcomes and service use patterns associated with co-located outpatient mental health care and alcohol and other drug specialist treatment: A systematic review. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 42(5), pp.1195-1219.

Cooper, R.L., Seiters, J., Davidson, D.L., MacMaster, S.A., Rasch, R.F., Adams, S. and Darby, K., 2010. Outcomes of integrated assertive community treatment for homeless consumers with co-occurring disorders. *Journal of dual diagnosis*, 6(2), pp.152-170.

Bouchery, E.E., Siegwarth, A.W., Natzke, B., Lyons, J., Miller, R., Ireys, H.T., Brown, J.D., Argomaniz, E. and Doan, R., 2018. Implementing a whole health model in a community mental health center: impact on service utilization and expenditures. *Psychiatric Services*, 69(10), pp.1075-1080.

Walter, A.W., Morocho, C., Chassler, D., Sousa, J., De Jesús, D., Longworth-Reed, L., Stewart, E., Guzman, M., Sostre, J., Linsenmeyer, A. and Lundgren, L., 2022. Evaluating culturally and linguistically integrated care for Latinx adults with mental and substance use disorders. *Ethnicity & Health*, 27(2), pp.407-419.

Ivaniushina, V. and Titkova, V., 2021. Peer influence in adolescent drinking behavior: A meta-analysis of stochastic actor-based modeling studies. *PloS one*, 16(4), p.e0250169.

Motyka, M.A. and Al-Imam, A., 2022. Causes of drug initiation among adolescents. *Canadian Journal of Family and Youth/Le Journal Canadien de Famille Et de la Jeunesse*, 14(1), pp.63-81.

Allen, J.P., Chango, J., Szwedo, D., Schad, M. and Marston, E., 2012. Predictors of susceptibility to peer influence regarding substance use in adolescence. *Child development*, 83(1), pp.337-350.

Nasser, E.H. and Overholser, J.C., 2005. Recovery from major depression: the role of support from family, friends, and spiritual beliefs. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 111(2), pp.125-132.

Lee, S., Juon, H.S., Martinez, G., Hsu, C.E., Robinson, E.S., Bawa, J. and Ma, G.X., 2009. Model minority at risk: Expressed needs of mental health by Asian American young adults. *Journal of community health*, 34, pp.144-152.

Gabriel, A. and Violato, C., 2010. Depression Literacy among Patients and the Public: A Literature Review. *Primary psychiatry*, 17(1).

Picco, L., Abdin, E., Chong, S.A., Pang, S., Vaingankar, J.A., Sagayadevan, V., Kwok, K.W. and Subramaniam, M., 2016. Beliefs about help seeking for mental disorders: Findings from a mental health literacy study in Singapore. *Psychiatric Services*, 67(11), pp.1246-1253.

Vollmann, M., Scharloo, M., Salewski, C., Dienst, A., Schonauer, K. and Renner, B., 2010. Illness representations of depression and perceptions of the helpfulness of social support: Comparing depressed and never-depressed persons. *Journal of affective disorders*, 125(1-3), pp.213-220.

McGovern, R., Bogowicz, P., Meader, N., Kaner, E., Alderson, H., Craig, D., Geijer-Simpson, E., Jackson, K., Muir, C., Salonen, D. and Smart, D., 2023. The association between maternal and paternal substance use and child substance use, internalizing and externalizing problems: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Addiction*, 118(5), pp.804-818.

Afifi, T.O., Taillieu, T., Salmon, S., Davila, I.G., Stewart-Tufescu, A., Fortier, J., Struck, S., Asmundson, G.J., Sareen, J. and MacMillan, H.L., 2020. Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), peer victimization, and substance use among adolescents. *Child abuse & neglect*, 106, p.104504.

Leza, L., Siria, S., López-Goñi, J.J. and Fernandez-Montalvo, J., 2021. Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and substance use disorder (SUD): A scoping review. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 221, p.108563.

Afifi, T.O., Henriksen, C.A., Asmundson, G.J. and Sareen, J., 2012. Childhood maltreatment and substance use disorders among men and women in a nationally representative sample. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 57(11), pp.677-686.

Fuller-Thomson, E., Roane, J.L. and Brennenstuhl, S., 2016. Three types of adverse childhood experiences, and alcohol and drug dependence among adults: An investigation using population-based data. Substance Use & Misuse, 51(11), pp.1451-1461.

Choi, N.G., DiNitto, D.M., Marti, C.N. and Choi, B.Y., 2017. Association of adverse childhood experiences with lifetime mental and substance use disorders among men and women aged 50+ years. *International psychogeriatrics*, 29(3), pp.359-372.

Hughes, K., Bellis, M.A., Sethi, D., Andrew, R., Yon, Y., Wood, S., Ford, K., Baban, A., Boderscova, L., Kachaeva, M. and Makaruk, K., 2019. Adverse childhood experiences, childhood relationships and associated substance use and mental health in young Europeans. *European journal of public health*, 29(4), pp.741-747.

Bryant, D.J., Coman, E.N. and Damian, A.J., 2020. Association of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and substance use disorders (SUDs) in a multi-site safety net healthcare setting. *Addictive behaviors reports*, 12, p.100293.

Broekhof, R., Nordahl, H.M., Tanum, L. and Selvik, S.G., 2023. Adverse childhood experiences and their association with substance use disorders in adulthood: A general population study (Young-HUNT). *Addictive behaviors reports*, 17, p.100488.

Bandura, A., 1977. Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs.

Neppl, T.K., Diggs, O.N. and Cleveland, M.J., 2020. The intergenerational transmission of harsh parenting, substance use, and emotional distress: Impact on the third-generation child. *Psychology of addictive behaviors*, 34(8), p.852.

TURNING POINT, 2006. Bottling It Up: The Effects of Alcohol Misuse on Children, Parents and Families [Online]. London: Turning Point. Available from: https://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/6276/1/3499-3720.pdf [Accessed 27 September 2024]

Templeton, L., Velleman, R., Hardy, E. and Boon, S., 2009. Young people living with parental alcohol misuse and parental violence: 'No-one has ever asked me how I feel in any of this'. *Journal of Substance Use*, 14(3-4), pp.139-150.

Houmøller, K., Bernays, S., Wilson, S. and Rhodes, T., 2011. *Juggling harms: Coping with parental substance misuse* [Online]. London: London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320323357_Juggling_Harms_Coping_with_parental_substance_misuse [Accessed 27 September 2024]

Muir, C., Adams, E.A., Evans, V., Geijer-Simpson, E., Kaner, E., Phillips, S.M., Salonen, D., Smart, D., Winstone, L. and McGovern, R., 2023. A systematic review of qualitative studies exploring lived experiences, perceived impact, and coping strategies of children and young people whose parents use substances. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 24(5), pp.3629-3646.

McLaughlin, A., Campbell, A. and McColgan, M., 2016. Adolescent substance use in the context of the family: A qualitative study of young people's views on parent-child attachments, parenting style and parental substance use. Substance use & misuse, 51(14), pp.1846-1855.

Powell, B.J., Patel, S.V., Haley, A.D., Haines, E.R., Knocke, K.E., Chandler, S., Katz, C.C., Seifert, H.P., Ake, G., Amaya-Jackson, L. and Aarons, G.A., 2020. Determinants of implementing evidence-based trauma-focused interventions for children and youth: A systematic review. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 47, pp.705-719.

Seker, S., Habersaat, S., Boonmann, C., Palix, J., Jenkel, N., Fischer, S., Fegert, J.M., Kölch, M., Schmeck, K. and Schmid, M., 2021. Substance-use disorders among child welfare and juvenile justice adolescents in residential care: The role of childhood adversities and impulsive behavior. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 121, p.105825.

Gunlicks, M.L. and Weissman, M.M., 2008. Change in child psychopathology with improvement in parental depression: a

systematic review. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 47(4), pp.379-389.

Stolper, H., van Doesum, K. and Steketee, M., 2022. Integrated family approach in mental health care by professionals from adult and child mental health services: A qualitative study. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 13, p.781556.

Stolper, H., van Doesum, K. and Steketee, M., 2024. An integrated family approach in the practice of adult and child mental health care. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 15, p.1298268.

Furber, G., Segal, L., Leach, M., Turnbull, C., Procter, N., Diamond, M., Miller, S. and McGorry, P., 2015. Preventing mental illness: closing the evidence-practice gap through workforce and services planning. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15, pp.1-14.

Goodyear, M., Hill, T.L., Allchin, B., McCormick, F., Hine, R., Cuff, R. and O'Hanlon, B., 2015. Standards of practice for the adult mental health workforce: meeting the needs of families where a parent has a mental illness. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 24(2), pp.169-180.

Pretorius, C., Chambers, D. and Coyle, D., 2019. Young people's online help-seeking and mental health difficulties: Systematic narrative review. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 21(11), p.e13873.

Gowen, L.K., 2013. Online mental health information seeking in young adults with mental health challenges. *Journal of Technology in Human Services*, 31(2), pp.97-111.

Subramaniam, M., Taylor, N.G., St. Jean, B., Follman, R., Kodama, C. and Casciotti, D., 2015. As simple as that?: tween credibility assessment in a complex online world. *Journal of Documentation*, 71(3), pp.550-571.

Best, P., Gil-Rodriguez, E., Manktelow, R. and Taylor, B.J., 2016. Seeking help from everyone and no-one: Conceptualizing the online help-seeking process among adolescent males. *Qualitative health research*, 26(8), pp.1067-1077.

Collin, P.J., Metcalf, A.T., Stephens-Reicher, J.C., Blanchard, M.E., Herrman, H.E., Rahilly, K. and Burns, J.M., 2011. ReachOut. com: The role

of an online service for promoting help-seeking in young people. Advances in Mental Health, 10(1), pp.39-51.

Kauer, S.D., Mangan, C. and Sanci, L., 2014. Do online mental health services improve help-seeking for young people? A systematic review. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 16(3), p.e3103.

Ruppel, E.K. and McKinley, C.J., 2015. Social support and social anxiety in use and perceptions of online mental health resources: exploring social compensation and enhancement. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 18(8), pp.462-467.

Ellis, L.A., Collin, P., Hurley, P.J., Davenport, T.A., Burns, J.M. and Hickie, I.B., 2013. Young men's attitudes and behaviour in relation to mental health and technology: implications for the development of online mental health services. *BMC psychiatry*, 13, pp.1-10.

Greidanus, E. and Everall, R.D., 2010. Helper therapy in an online suicide prevention community. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 38(2), pp.191-204.

Mar, M.Y., Neilson, E.K., Torchalla, I., Werker, G.R., Laing, A. and Krausz, M., 2014. Exploring e-mental health preferences of generation Y. *Journal of Technology in Human Services*, 32(4), pp.312-327.

Burns, J.M., Davenport, T.A., Durkin, L.A., Luscombe, G.M. and Hickie, I.B., 2010. The internet as a setting for mental health service utilisation by young people. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 192, pp.S22-S26.

Budden, T., Hafizuddin, A., Dimmock, J.A., Law, K.H., Furzer, B.J. and Jackson, B., 2023. Support needs and experiences of young people living in families with mental illness. *Journal of Adolescence*, 95(4), pp.784-796.

National Health Service, 2024. *What is CAMHS?* [Online]. NHS: Oxford Health. Available from: https://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/camhs/about/what-iscamhs/ [Accessed: 27 September 2024].

Appleton, R., Gauly, J., Mughal, F., Singh, S. and Tuomainen, H., 2021. 'The experiences, perspectives, and needs of young people who access support for mental health in primary care: a systematic review'. *British Journal of General Practice*.

Tunks, A., Berry, C., Strauss, C., Nyikavaranda, P. and Ford, E., 2023. Patients' perspectives of barriers and facilitators to accessing support through primary care for common mental health problems in England: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 338, pp.329-340.

Braun, V. and Clarke, V., 2021. To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. *Qualitative research in sport, exercise and health*, 13(2), pp.201-216.

Nowell, L.S., Norris, J.M., White, D.E. and Moules, N.J., 2017. Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International journal of qualitative methods*, 16(1), p.1609406917733847.

Appendices

Appendix 1. Participant information sheet and consent form

ONLINE PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET AND CONSENT FORM

Exploration of youth drug and alcohol users' experiences accessing mental health support

*Questions and information will be shown in the same order and format on Jisc Online Surveys

Name of Researcher: Ryan Herbert

Contact details of Researcher: RH970@bath.ac.uk

Name of Supervisor: Ann-Marie Scott

Contact details of Supervisor: ann-mariescott@thecareforum.org.uk

Name of academic advisor: Dr Joanne Cranwell

Contact details of advisor: jc2701@bath.ac.uk

This information sheet forms part of the process of informed consent. It should tell you what the research is about and what taking part will involve. Please read this information sheet carefully and ask one of the researchers named above if you have any questions.

Why are we doing this research project:

The project aims to understand the perspectives of mental health service staff who support young people using drugs and alcohol. We want to identify the barriers and facilitators that these young people encounter when accessing mental health services. To achieve this, we will gather insights from mental health service staff to explore ways to enhance access and delivery of these services.

The project objectives are:

Identify barriers impeding young people engaged in drug and alcohol use from accessing mental health services.

Identify potential gaps in existing services that make it harder to use mental health services.

Investigate potential strategies to help address identified barriers to improve the accessibility of mental health services.

Who can be a participant?

We are seeking individuals who provide support to young people (aged 16-24) in mental health or emotional support services, or who are involved in the organisation and delivery of these services. Volunteers are required to speak in English.

Do I need to take part?

Participation is entirely voluntary. Before you decide, we will explain the project and review this information sheet with you. If you choose to participate, we will ask you to sign a consent form. You are free to withdraw from the project at any time without providing a reason. If you decide to withdraw, please follow the instructions outlined in point 12.

What would taking part involve?

You will be invited to participate in an online personal interview where you will be asked about the barriers and facilitators you have

encountered while supporting young people in mental health services in Swindon. The interview will last approximately 30–45 minutes and will be recorded via Microsoft Teams so both audio and video will be recorded. However, you are welcome to turn your camera off if you feel more comfortable. Because the interview is confidential, we ask that you pick a time and date to participate where you are able to access a private environment where you feel comfortable, which is free from interruptions and others overhearing. We ask that no other colleagues or line managers are present during the interview.

Are there reasons why I should not take part?

There are no reasons why you should not take part unless you do not wish to.

What are the benefits of taking part?

Participating in the project may not offer direct benefits. Still, the valuable information contributed by you and other participants will assist mental health services in identifying and overcoming obstacles to care. This, in turn, will enhance the accessibility and delivery of mental health services.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

There are no disadvantages to participating in the project. If you encounter a question, you do not wish to answer, you are free to decline.

Will my participation involve any discomfort or embarrassment?

We do not anticipate that you will experience any discomfort or embarrassment by participating in the project. However, if you do feel uncomfortable or appear distressed at any point, the researchers will immediately stop the interview and may suggest that you contact an appropriate support service.

Exploration of Youth Drug and Alcohol Users' Experiences Accessing Mental Health Support in Swindon

Who will have access to the information that I provide?

Healthwatch Swindon owns and has access to all of the data provided. The research team from the University of Bath will also have access to the information that you provide. All records will be treated as confidential.

What will happen to the data collected and results of the project?

After concluding the interview, we will transcribe the recordings, ensuring anonymity by eliminating or altering names, staff, local references, and locations. Any retained information, from the recording and consent forms, will be securely and confidentially stored at the University of Bath for a decade on the University's secure server. Our reporting will not include any details that could identify participants, their family or anyone else mentioned in the answers. We plan to share our findings with local authorities and policymakers and utilise the data for student dissertations and published in a report from Healthwatch Swindon.

Who has reviewed the project?

This project has been given a favourable opinion by the University of Bath, Research Ethics Approval Committee for Health (REACH) [reference: 3502-6640].

How can I withdraw from the project?

If you wish to stop participating before completing the project, you can inform one of the researchers listed above by email. You can withdraw from the project at any time without providing a reason and without any repercussions.

If you wish to withdraw your data, please contact a researcher within two weeks of your participation. After this period, it may not be possible to withdraw your data as some results may have been published or anonymised. Your individual results will not be identifiable in any presentation or publication.

University of Bath privacy notice

The University of Bath privacy notice can be found here: https://www.bath.ac.uk/corporate-information/university-of-bath-privacy-notice-for-research-participants/.

What happens if there is a problem?

If you have a concern about any aspect of the project, you should ask to speak to the

researchers using the contact details above. If they are unable to resolve your

concern or you wish to make a complaint regarding the project, please contact the

Chair of the Research Ethics Approval Committee for Health (REACH):

Professor James Betts.

Email: health-ethics@bath.ac.uk.

If I require further information, who should I contact and how?

If you have any questions about the research, please do not hesitate to get in touch with the researchers using the contact details below.

Ryan Herbert Rh970@bath.ac.uk

Ann-Marie Scott <u>ann-mariescott@thecareforum.org.uk</u>

*Next page

Please read each point before providing consent	
I have been provided with information explaining what participation in this project involves.	
I have had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this project.	
I have received satisfactory answers to all questions I have asked.	
I have received enough information about the project to make a decision about my participation.	
I understand that I am free to withdraw my consent to participate in the project at any time without giving a reason.	
I understand that I am free to withdraw my data within two weeks of my participation.	
I understand the nature and purpose of the procedures involved in this project. These have been communicated to me on the information sheet accompanying this form.	
I understand and acknowledge that the investigation is designed to promote scientific knowledge and that Healthwatch Swindon and the University of Bath will use the data I provide only for the purpose(s) set out in the information sheet.	

I understand the data I provide will be treated as confidential, and that on completion of the project my name or other identifying information will not be disclosed in any presentation or publication of the research.
I understand that my consent to use the data I provide is conditional upon the University complying with its duties and obligations under current data protection legislation.
I consent to my data being shared within the research team at the University of Bath and Healthwatch Swindon.
I hereby fully and freely consent to my participation in this project.
If you have any concerns or complaints related to your participation in this project, please direct them to the Research Governance and Compliance Team at research-ethics@bath.ac.uk .
Please complete the questions bellow and tick the box bellow to provide consent to the study.
Your Date: name:
I give full consent to participate in the study *Required question

Appendix 2. Interview schedule

Interview schedule

Introduction

Make sure participants understand the study's aims and give their consent to participate, including agreeing to have the interview audio recorded. Infor them that they have the right to withdraw at any time without a reason, if they wish to withdraw after the interview this must be within 14 days. Ask if they have any questions.

Part 1- Context

Please tell me about your role and if you work for a mental health service provider or support service.

Prompt: do you deliver the service or are you more organisational

Please explain how you support young people (16-24) who misuse alcohol

Please explain how you support young people (16-24) who misuse drugs

Thank you now we will move onto questions about the barriers young people face while accessing and using services.

Part 2- Barriers and Facilitators

In what ways do you think misuse of drugs and alcohol has an influence on the young people using your service, if at all

Prompt: Thinking back to working with individuals for multiple sessions, does their behaviour around drugs and alcohol change as they work through their journeys

Please can you tell me about some of the barriers you believe make it more difficult for young people to access support?

Prompt:

Traveling to and from appointments

Cost of transport

Fitting appointments in around daily life

Energy and effort to attend and talk to someone

Waiting times

Please can you tell me what you do before appointments to support your young people?

Prompt:

Explaining what will happen at the appointment

Instructions of what to do when you arrive

Appointment reminders

What steps do you take to establish trust with your young people while using your service?

Prompt:

Before during or post appointments

How often and why do you think young people might not show for appointments?

Thank you, now I would like to ask you some questions about things that help support young people accessing services.

What do you believe make it easier for young people to access support?

Prompts:

Is it usually a person on their own who are ready to change Friends or family who support them?

What do you think your service could do better to help support young people access services?

What support is in place for you to deliver the service?

Prompt:

Mental health days

Days for you to rest

Clinical supervision

Is there anything else you wish to mention that has not been discussed so far?

Thank you for taking time to participate and sharing that with me.

Appendix 3. Table 1: Thematic map of emerging codes into themes.

Table 1: Emerging codes into themes

Theme	Codes		
Theme 1: Complexities in Addressing young people's mental health and substance misuse	Self-medication Stigma from services Transition Service capacity Staff capacity Demand for services Collaboration Gaps in the system		
Theme 2: Navigating Interpersonal Relationships	Readiness to change Trust Family support Family stigma Intergenerational issues Social support Stigma from friends The right service The right professional young people's voice		
Theme 3: Finding the Right Door for young people	Access to information Engaging in help-seeking behaviour Early intervention Early treatment Schools (positive/negative) Role of the GP		

Appendix 4. Emerged barriers and facilitators from data analysis

Table 3. Barriers and facilitators to accessing support.

Code	Barrier	Facilitator	
Self-medication	Substances are used for short-term relief instead of mental health treatment.	-	
Access to information		Young people and their peers are informed about available support.	
Readiness to change	Young people do not recognise their substance misuse as a problem.	Young people are motivated to change their behaviour.	
Engaging in help- seeking behaviour	_	Services engage young people in positive activities beyond mental health support.	
Self-referral	-	Young people can seek help without fear of peer stigma.	
Individualistic treatment	_	Support is tailored to the young people's life, promoting personal agency.	

Trust	_	Services build trusting and transparent relationships with young people.
Stigma from services	Young people fear judgment or punishment when engaging with services.	_
Family Support	Families are unsure how to help or where to find support for their young person.	Families assist young people in making better decisions and seeking help.
Family stigma	Families discourage young people from seeking help and sending negative messages.	-
Intergenerational issues	Substance misuse is normalised within the family.	Young people view substance misuse negatively and avoids it.
Social support	-	Peers encourage young people to seek support and make positive choices.
Stigma from friends	Friends normalise substance misuse and criticise young people for seeking help.	-

Early intervention	-	Educating young people early on the risks of substance misuse and where to seek help.
Early treatment	_	Treating young people at an early stage, before mental health or substane misuse becomes severe.
The right service	The service does not meet the young person's needs.	The service is well-suited to the young person's needs.
The right professional	Younng people are reluctant to work with their assigned professionals.	Young people are willing to engage with their assigned professional.
Transport/location	Young people cannot access services due to a lack of transportation or safety concerns in certain areas.	Services provide transportation solutions.
Schools	Schools stigmatise young people and fail to engage with mental health services.	Schools actively collaborate with mental health services to support young people.
Service capacity	Mental health services are overwhelmed.	
Staff capacity	Service providers struggle with high caseloads.	Staff receive support for their well-being.

The general practitioner	The GP lacks the resources or knowledge to provide proper support for young people.	The GP often serves as the first point of contact, facilitating referrals or prescribing treatment.
Making appointments		Appointments are scheduled to fit into young person's daily life.
Initial contact	When peers refer a young person, the service may lack a full understanding of the young person's situation.	Young people receive all relevant information, and their voice is heard.
Waiting times	Young people lose interest in support due to long wait times.	
The gap from waitlist to treatment	Prolonged waiting periods worsen young people's mental health or substance misuse issues.	Young people receive interim support while on the waitlist.
Collaboration	_	Mental health and substance misuse are addressed together, and information is shared between services to ensure comprehensive support.
Transition	Moving from child to adult services causes distress.	-

Gaps in the system	Integrated family support or combined substance misuse and mental health treatment is unavailable.	_
Changes in services	Young people are unaware of which services are available due to changes.	New and existing services are accessible to meet young people's needs.
Wider social determinants of health.	Factors such as financial situation, ethnicity, education, housing, and location negatively affect access to support.	_
Young people's voice	Young people feel their voices are ignored, causing them to disengage from services.	Services listen to and work with young people to provide appropriate support.

YP = Young person

MH = MH

SM = SM

GP = General practitioner

Appendix 5. Additional Barrier and Facilitator Recommendations

Table 4. Additional Barriers and Facilitators to Help-Seeking and Recommendations for Future Practice

Barrier	Quote	Discussion	Recommendation
Staff capacity	"They don't have the staff that's the problem in the 1st place that they are short staffed" (P2)	Participants discussed the pressure on staff to deliver services, with workforce shortages hindering the improvement and expansion of mental health services. Poor mental health among NHS staff is a significant issue, contributing to presenteeism, absenteeism, and staff	All participants reported feeling well-supported, enabling them to manage their well-being and provide optimal care. Clinical supervision was frequently mentioned as a key facilitator, consistent with previous research (Wheeler & Richards, 2007; Wallbank, 2013)

		turnover (Health Education England, 2019).	
Wait times	"They have a massive waiting list and that can have a big really big impact on whether or not they're going to access a service." (P3)	was highlighted as a key barrier in each interview.	Similar to Theme 3, improving access to information through online self-management tools, raising awareness of voluntary organisations, and promoting community or peer support is essential (Wolpert et al., 2019). Additionally, early identification pathways are critical to reducing wait times for those with emerging difficulties, enabling timely interventions where they can be most effective (Colizzi, Lesalvia, & Ruggeri, 2020).

Cost	"Obviously any costs with things like mental health is never going to be helpful" (P5)	Despite the UK's equity of access system (NHS, 2015), the cost of seeking help emerged as a barrier to treatment. This issue is more commonly reported in other countries, where the cost of treatment is a barrier to accessing services (Sylwestrzak et al., 2014; Lubman et al., 2017), though both studies reported it affecting a relatively small percentage of individuals (less than 15%).	Ensuring that young people and families are fully informed about the availability of free services through the NHS, as well as any potential costs for specific treatments. Clear communication and accessible resources should be provided to reduce misconceptions about the financial barriers to mental health support.
Transport/Location	"I think's quite a big one, not just gang related Safety for crossing different areas of Swindon. But I would also that that Although town being town centre where	The service's location and proximity to public transport are vital for young people, who tend to rely on it more than adults (McCann & Lubman, 2012). However,	Services effectively address transportation barriers by providing bus passes and lifts for young people, particularly those who live far from public transport or in unsafe

	we're based is the most accessible point because you've got your buses and stuff once it comes into the winter evenings and it's dark it like half past four. I wouldn't want my like, I wouldn't want a daughter for instance, out there" (P6)	those living far from public transport still face significant challenges (Hodges, O'Brien & McGorry, 2007). Participants also highlighted safety as a barrier, especially for young people unable to travel to services due to concerns for their safety, such as those involved with gangs.	areas. Additionally, the flexibility to meet young people in comfortable locations helps reduce anxiety and improve accessibility, ensuring they can connect with professionals without added stress or safety concerns (Mackett, 2021)
Young people's voice	"hearing that child's voice and that young person are those wants and needs always over not always but most of you know over what the professionals may be saying or the mum or the dad or the teacher, yeah." (P1)	Participants highlighted the importance of prioritising young people's voices in mental health support, emphasising that being listened to and respected is critical to their care experience. As reflected in the broader literature (Freake, Barley, & Kent,	Service professionals in this study had a clear respect for young people needs and promoted a very individualistic view of support to promote autonomy. However, other mental health services should ensure that young people's voices are prioritised in

	"A lot of them cannot function, do not wish to function before 12-1 clock and so them having an appointment at 9:00 is just unrealistic for them to get to it." (P8)	2007; Lavis & Hewson, 2011), relational aspects, such as feeling heard and understood, significantly impact service effectiveness and accessibility. Additionally, participants noted that rigid appointment times, especially early mornings, often do not align with young people's natural rhythms, making it difficult for them to attend sessions.	decision-making, allowing their needs to guide care plans. Flexible appointment scheduling and locations that cater to young people's preferences will further improve access and engagement (Corker et al., 2013). Furthermore, anti-stigma training for healthcare professionals can create a more supportive environment, encouraging earlier helpseeking and improving outcomes (Knaak et al., 2017).
Transition	"That ending is really difficult. So, we have to really bear that in mind and actually do that in a way that's really planned. So, he turns 18 in a couple	The transition from child to adult mental health services can be challenging due to significant differences in care approaches, leading	To bridge the gap between child and adult mental health services, enhancing collaboration through transition clinics and coordinators is

	of months and that whole thought process, but I'm going to be 18, I'm going to lose all these services. Actually, he ends up in hospital because took an overdose. Couldn't couldn't manage it." (P2)	to discontinuation of care (Reale & Bonati, 2015). Additionally, the lack of seamless informationsharing systems and young people's desire for autonomy (Coppens et al., 2015; McNicholas et al., 2015), combined with the stigma and anxiety around mental health care, often result in hesitation to engage with adult services, even when a referral is made	models promote joint working, facilitating smoother transitions for young people entering adult services (Cappeli et al., 2016; Henderson et al.,
		(McNamara et al., 2017; Davis & Butler, 2002).	
The right professional	"Yeah, I think that's really hard. I really do. I just don't think the power dynamics right, like we're asking them to be real with us and to trust us and to allow us into their	There was a nuanced understanding of the importance of the professional-patient Participants highlighted strategies for establishing trust and "meeting them"	Services effectively facilitate care by prioritising trust-building with young people, clearly outlining their supportive role, and ensuring transparency

lives at the most deep and personal level. I just feel you have to meet that... It's always done with their best interests in mind." (P7)

"Very often the young person is sound like they don't click with that practitioner that works for them and so they don't want to continue the support because the person that they've been offered by that service is not someone that they're able to open up to or click with" (P8)

where they are" (P7). This rapport enhances communication and can lead to improved care quality (Slade et al., 2010). Individuals value healthcare professionals who are attentive, nonjudgmental, empathetic, and genuinely caring (Barnes et al., 2019; Robinson et al., 2017; Williams et al., 2016), fostering a sense of being the development of trust, listened to, understood, and respected, which in turn encourages openness in disclosure (Barnes et al., 2017; Machin et al., 2017; Oh et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2016).

around confidentiality, especially in cases involving safeguarding. This relationship-focused approach encourages help-seeking, addressing a key barrier of feeling disconnected from care (Oh et al., 2020). Moreover, services that emphasise continuity of care and offer longer appointments enhance allowing for deeper relationships and more open communication, which are crucial for effective treatment (Machin et al., 2017; Barnes et al., 2019).

YP= YP

MH= MH

Appendix 6. Additional quotes

Table 5. Example table of emerging codes linked to quotes.

Code	Code description	Quote
Self-medication	Use of substances to cope with poor mental health	It it's a big transformation, usually in the first instance for them to recognise that it might not be the best way for them to be managing whatever things are driving that behaviour.
		I think there's layers to that, aren't there? I mean, it's a safety in some way for them, there's a huge kind of transformation has to take place in terms of how they see the purpose that those substances are are having in their lives.
		I think that's really, it's a really difficult one to grasp because like you say in the immediate is solving a problem. It feels like it's offering a solution, and I think that it, you know that that recognition of what lies beneath that, that actually that anxiety, that whatever depression that that might have been there as a pre-existing kind of reason for those things feeling like they're they're solving a problem. It it is, you know, there's a lot, there's a lot of resistance to engaging

Exploration of Youth Drug and Alcohol Users' Experiences Accessing Mental Health Support in Swindon

with those things. They feel like a bigger and much more difficult, much more complicated thing to to face and solve, don't they? And I think getting your head around the fact that these things are perpetuating that and making it worse, it can be very counterintuitive when they actually feel quite good in the moment. They, yeah, I think that's definitely true, that understanding, really understanding and also, it's not a quick fix. You might feel a lot worse before you feel better.

Absolutely, absolutely 'cause that again is is symptomatic of, you know, being in a protective state, isn't it being dysregulated. There's that sort of caught in that trap of fluctuation of never quite being in that middle ground, never quite being in full connection with themselves sufficiently to be able to, to weather that change, to be able to dig deep and find that motivation and sustain it is again, it's that that, that, you know, the substances will reinforce that. It's it's a really, really big ask.

All the messages they're already getting about themselves, and the world just get reinforced

		and then alcohol's still there, isn't it? And substances are still there.
Access to information	Young people knowing where to find information about support	So, I think having that availability, having those resources, having that education there is really important. But in terms of facilitating change, I think that one to one.
Readiness to change	Young people wants to change their behaviour	I think it's massive 'cause, it's just normal. It's. It's their reality and if that's how you belong, if that, if that's what what belonging looks like you're asking young people to abandon such a lot Absolutely. I mean all of that,
		the organisation that requires the the means to do it, the resistance internally to that you know that time to change your mind and and actually just stay as I am. Stay with what I know even if it's not working for me all of it.
Engaging in help-seeking behaviour	0.	it has to be, it has to come from them. Them actually seeking something different, believing that there might be different ways to meet those needs and actually first and foremost identify that the needs that are causing them to turn to that you know it's it's it's a very complex and interwoven picture

really... It is in my experience it's a very gradual thing.

That's not to say you know that there isn't a really important role in in there being access to support that you can just walk into it. You know, it's not everybody's going to have that be able to have that or even if they do have it, they might not be able to fully engage with it at the time it was available to them.

You know it's a relationship because I think it's it can feel really, really scary and unsafe to abandon these things. You can't expect people to stop doing something that's serving the purpose of having something else there to catch them and I'm not sure that that kind of instructive message delivering really can ever do that in the same way.

, particularly if you've got that message been delivered by peers as well as family. I mean that that that really is an extraordinary thing to ask for a young, young person to find the self-awareness and self-control, find the resources they need to live life on completely different

terms, I think that's that's a really big ask. You know, there's this pressure, isn't there from people in every direction who are living their life that way and, and there's there's a huge vulnerability in stepping away from these things that are serving that purpose anyway, so to then ask them to withstand the pressure of people trying to pull them back it back that in that direction it's it's huge.

There needs to be other things there. Again, that can kind of bridge the gap that can support in that and really understand what that is asking of somebody.

So yeah, I think that's that's very true. It's very isolating, I think, I think it's very confusing to have those messages from the outside world that seem very black and white when your world is is so nuanced and so full of lots and lots of other shades of Grey doesn't make sense, does it? It's not helpful.

It's not meaningful, you know, even when people have jumped through all of these hoops, they're they're experienced day-to-day doesn't change very much. There's very little

understanding of trauma, meaningful understanding of trauma, and that is rife in any young person who's lent on drugs and alcohol. They've gone through stuff. Either before turning to that or while they're on it, things happen.

There's many goes with it and schools, you know, they seem to really, really struggle to not feel there you know their power, their control is being compromised by by offering these sorts of adjustments. It's a really big struggle for them to do that. I guess they just feel that if they do that, they're just opening the floodgates to all the kids thinking they can do what they like. It's a lot of resistance to it, and that makes meaningfully accommodating trauma, really recognising the level of vulnerability we're talking about young people whose lives are like this, just virtually impossible.

They try and make it not like school, but at the same time they try to give those young people access to qualifications, a feeling you're very tangible kind of feeling that they are achieving something and they're now also going to have tutors on site so that they can

work towards those sort of of course objects and things because this is the thing, isn't it that. Your education, your education is just going out of the window at the same time that all this is happening, you know, so access to life is literally slipping away. And I like that about them, that they're they're constantly thinking of new ways to improve what they do and make it work for young people's needs as they really are, but it isn't. It is quite a narrow band of people that are actually able to access it unfortunately.

I mean to me that's that is the work. I think there's huge therapeutic value in that alone and that's well, that's what I tell myself. You know, even if even if I don't feel I'm achieving anything, if we can, they can just start to feel safe with me and give me a chance. That's something, that's something different. That's something they've done that they've built that they've created, that they've somehow found. The courage to to make themselves visible in that way and and I feel like that that has some value.

I think it would be good to diversify a little bit, I feel like. Starting to when, when young

people are ready find other placements or organisations where seeds that have started to grow within that safe environment can be kind of nurtured and developed into something else.

So, if there's things that young people are interested in or certain strengths that have been noticed that there's a follow on for them. I personally think that we need to be careful about it becoming a bit too schooly as well. Like I do think it it's strength is in the fact it isn't a school, and it doesn't really bear any resemblance to educational, environments. They they are doing a little bit, but I think it would be good to do more of extracurricular type stuff. Stuff for over the holidays and things like that as well

Something that actually makes you feel good rather than just numbs you.

Yeah, some validation but it just really makes me think when talking to you, you know, and you actually think about the level of and the number of obstacles it's. It's really. It really kind of makes sense of why it's such an incredibly difficult thing to get out of, because even if you can pursue one of those

		are the ones might be falling apart at the same time, and it really is like, you got to hold it open, haven't you in all these different directions?
Self-referral	A young person being able to refer themselves without the need of peers	At the moment it's referrals through schools, they also social services refer, you know, there are, it's through organisations largely, although individuals can refer as well and it's constantly evolving.
		more about bridging the gap between young people who can't even make it on site and can't even access the the engage programme as it is with smaller numbers and all the flexibility they try and offer. So yeah, it's it's not as accessible as they'd like it to be yet. But I do believe if somebody did walk in off the street, they would do their best to find a way to to facilitate it. But yeah, they're they're constantly trying to open it up and hopefully it will grow.
Self- efficacy/Agency/Individualistic	Empowering the individual to change their behaviour	Young people not in school, but also maybe not able to attend the platform project on sites. It's a bit too much for them so I'm using my counselling skills as a sort of therapeutic mentor seeing whether it's possible to find a way to meet their needs

and allow them to engage, or if not just offering them support in whatever way they can accept it.

Absolutely, absolutely thinking about to have conversations about it is something to be able to, you know, air those, those feelings about how it might not be serving you to be able to feel safe to if you've witnessed things that friends do, or family do that some part of your nose don't feel right but what, but you've got nowhere to sand that out. I think that kind of change is really authentic for me that's what matters. It comes from within

Trust

Engaging with an individual so their professional

I get I I would take a very gentle approach with things like alcohol. You're kind of getting they can trust into the territory of very private personal experiences, so it's about for me, it's about getting the trust first and foremost, and whatever steps I then took would be very much alongside what that young person was able to take.

> I think I've got to be authentic if I'm expecting them to trust me, then I trust them as well.

I don't mean to sound like I'm criticising because I just think

it's such a difficult job. I don't, I don't think they're given the resources they need. It's nuanced work and it takes time and it, as we've said before, you know it's it's different, it's unique to every single individual. You you know, there's a lot of damage that needs to be undone. A lot of negative experiences of even one to one relationships that has to be done before you, you know you you may or may not be able to develop a kind of trust that you can actually use to implement some kind of change or improvement in that young person's life.

Stigma from services

Fear of being service staff

That seems to be quite judged by the important in terms of them feeling that maybe they're not going to be judged, I don't know. It's very it's very individual really. It would depend on the person. I just I I'm very much led by what feels possible for them and just try and be as real as I can be within that.

> I get tested a lot and I understand that because they're like, oh, here we go. Another person who thinks that they know better than me, another person full of ****, great. So, yeah but I expect that, and I know that that's what's

		gonna happen and that's why there needs to be specific services with specific skills to tolerate that you can't.
Family norms	Families attitudes towards mental health and substance misuse	I think there will always be that fear of of what. what that might lead towards, you know, and people misunderstanding or judging your family or judging you.
		I'm thinking of young people I know who haven't got. I mean, it's not fair to say they haven't got adults that advocate for them. They have, but the adults are under so much pressure themselves, their lives are so hard, their capacity to do that for their young person is very, very small. They don't stand a chance, and I don't believe a young person could do it for themselves. Not somebody who's already alienated, who's already fighting the world and thinks everybody's against them, then that I just. I think it would be almost impossible. Almost impossible.
Family support	Their family support them to make better decisions and seek help	So, I do get to know them quite well and because I can pick them up from home and things like that, I get to talk to family members a bit and yeah.

It is impossible. There are so many barriers, I feel like it is and that's just got worse and worse and worse like that. You know, a lot of the young people I work with are fortunate enough to have an advocate in their house. You know, who's really fighting hard for them and a lot of a lot of the parents have actually become quite expert at what services are out there, what? What processes they've got to go through? It takes so long. Like I, I genuinely think, you know Like you say, parents

understanding new ways of of seeing the situation, supporting themselves, supporting their young person, opportunities to build skills, paths out of out of that situation have got to be held there ready, haven't they?

Family stigma

The family has a negative seeking help for mental health and substance misuse

Yeah, I think I think those barriers that feeling that of of maybe ostracising yourself or perception to maybe, being judgmental in some way of your friends or your family, there's there's a lot that holds people where they are in my experience.

So again, it's a bit like we were talking about, you know the the the environmental factors, the pressure from peers or family, there's that pressure to actually withstand all of the discomfort of change at the same time as as relinquishing that immediate relief is, is it really takes a lot.

And I think as well, actually involving families more, I would like to see parents been able to join up a bit and talk to each other because they feel that sense of judgement too, and they feel very ostracised and that just puts them in a protective state. Being able to meet with people who understand and that they're not fearful of being honest with because they think they're going to be penalised or judged in some ways it's really powerful and good for the young people because they're watching all the time to see how their parents are reacting to things.

Intergenerational issues

Family uses substnace

often, they their lives are that you know, all of their friends do that their families do that.

As I said, if they're coming from a background friends or family who also survive on those terms, it can be really difficult

not to feel that you're betraying people or isolating yourself from from things that you feel. You know, you really need to be to be okay and to be to be safe. It's a big ask.

These people are young carers, they've got a parent who's got an alcohol problem. They're really worried about that person, that's that tends to be their first and foremost the idea of of, you know, them no longer drinking or no longer using substances is somewhere beyond that the first and form is that they're in that protective relationship with that, that adult and not wanting that to be known, not wanting them to be to be potentially judged or or her any in any any other way.

judging by the people I I've worked with; it's taken weeks and weeks for them to be able to feel safe enough to talk about these things. Most times it it comes out without them even realising what they're saying. You know, they're very guarded and protective of that, and they're getting they're get they're getting blamed; you know, they're getting into trouble at school for attendance. They're getting called, disruptive, troublemaker,

rude, disrespectful. That's what the world's seeing. Beyond that, they're dealing with going and having to find their nan because she's wounded off. Absolutely ***** (Swear insinuating drunk) again, and nobody knows where she is and they're doing that. You know, when they're at home, up till God knows what time, because there's another party going on in the house, even though they're supposed to be going back to school the next day after however many weeks of suspension, the school doesn't even get to see that.

You know, there's the answer. The drugs and alcohol are just there available, and mum and Dad do it and you know, whoever else is in the house does it. So, it's inevitable, really.

Social support

networks support a to make better decisions

wider support Absolutely the anonymity, the autonomy it takes all of those boxes doesn't it and it also is young people something that somebody who works in the way I do or a social work or a teacher could just put that little touch of support and get get them in there but that well that well of understanding and expertise is sitting there waiting for them.

Stigma from friends	Fear of being judged by friends because they are seeking help	Yeah, I think I think those barriers that feeling that of of maybe ostracising yourself or maybe, being judgmental in some way of your friends or your family, there's there's a lot that holds people where they are in my experience
Job	Role of the HCP	At the moment I work as a school counsellor at Name school in Place. I still do a bit of private practise, but I'm winding that down and yeah, I work for something called the platform project in Place, which is an alternative provision that have recently branched out into trying to sort of bridge the gap between. Young people not in school, but also maybe not able to attend the platform project on sites.
Early intervention	Providing awareness and education to young people before they develop mental health or substance misuse issues	
Early treatment	Treating young people while it is a lower-level need, before	

	it becomes worse	
The right service	worse	I I get to become quite closely involved in their lives because it's one to one, it's a four-hour relationship every week, but I have with these young people and it's just one to one for four hours. You know, I think not to say that having those services available isn't really important, but I think when it comes alongside, you know, school, it's being delivered as a message. It can be quite easy for that to be lumped in with, you know, these expectations, this idea of what what you have to be to be worth something and it can be
		rejected on those terms. It's all part of, you know, an authority kind of thing and and doesn't even touch the surface really. It's just another thing to push back against and be different from. So, I think yeah, very much has to come from within.
		I think with young, young people, even young people who on on paper have have, you know, rejected the usual routes of social expectations. Who can, you know, be labelled quite rebellious or difficult, there's still that desire to to be accepted

and to be approved of, and I think having the chance to be somewhere like platform. Most of these young people have already gone through a lot of rejection, a lot of feelings of failure. I think that that personal fear of being judged would would still be there, you know, if you found a way to fit in to suddenly then open up about something like an issue with drugs or alcohol.

Like it and then and a lot of drugs and alcohol are about not having to know to say you feel they're counselling, pure counselling. It's not always the most effective way in which is is largely why I've ended up doing the work I'm doing, because I I just have found that again and again and again that it's it's too big and ask, but yeah. Having all those different possible ways of connecting with a young person and and having people there who are trained in in noticing that and very clued up about what, what's out there that might help.

The right professional

The HCP is a the young people

I feel like that would be the suitable fit for same there. I think that's where maybe the mentoring is another quite powerful thing because it's just one person talking to another person.

I think that's a very individual thing. That's that's how I am but I don't know whether it'd be reasonable to expect that of of another professional or whether that they would, they would even want that but to me, because you're offering a real relationship more like.

Yeah, I think that's really hard. I really do. I just don't think the power dynamics right, like we're asking them to be real with us and to trust us and to allow us into their lives at the most deep and personal level. I just feel you have to meet that with like, obviously there's there's parameters. It's always done with their best interests in mind. To keep them safe and to and to protect we as well but I but I I do. I do think there's something really important about that, that this is this is for good, and you know, I I love it when I still get emails from kids I work with ages ago, and I'll always give them my e-mail and then they can choose and obviously as well, there's got to be parameters. You've always got to say, I might be able to answer you straight away. I might. I won't be able to answer every day, but that's for you to manage as a, as a professional.

But yeah, I I absolutely think that if the step away has to be on their terms, I would. I would hate for it to feel enforced or or harsh. I think that could be really, really destructive. That's part of the work.

Transport

Getting to and from a service

It's actually really opened up awareness about how many young people are out there who can't leave their houses, and so we'd sort of maybe I think with the new new intake, there'll be a little bit more care about whether they even set the expectation of coming on site in the first instance because it can start, it can set people up to fail. You know, they feel they can't do it and that's not everybody had that feeling a million times. We don't want to give them that feeling. So yeah, the mentors work will be to just meet and literally meet them where they are. And sometimes the young people I've worked with wouldn't meet me at all for quite a while and but then I can chat to family, or you know, so there's always an opportunity somewhere.

Think transport's big one that you touched on there and that's something that actually, personally I will still offer to kids if, for example, some of my clients are taken to the sexual

health clinic and I'll still say if you need a lift, let me know. I think platform try and provide taxis for some young people.

Some of them have carers or support workers who do the transport. That's a really big one and the money to pay for the transport if you if you, you know, if you are getting the bus. So yeah, providing that kind of thing, I think that that drop in as well.

There's a real I think there's a real lack of community. It's a really fragmented place Place. I think maybe within within certain, you know individual areas, there's kind of a territorial sense of community, but I'm not even sure whether other than to say we're this not you within those communities. I don't know whether there really any support is. There's certainly that kind of I know particularly the boys at the platform project. There's a lot of difficulty with putting kids together who are from different places and a lot of kids who won't go to certain parts of Place.

Schools positive

Positive engagement with schools

I think inevitably, and I do say that with compassion for schools, because they're meant to be educating, that's their expertise. They have huge pressure, but they are in this

		incredible position of being on the front line. Having this visibility is such an opportunity there. I mean, I don't know where else those kids are going to get caught
Schools negative	Negative engagement with schools	I think they'd be scared. I think you know you're still in the school environment. I find that very much the school counselling. You only have half an hour sessions there. They are pretty good 'cause. They let me have as many sessions as I want, I'm not limited, but still they've come straight out of the classroom to have that session and then they go most times straight back to the classroom again. Obviously most of them have got maybe the old staff member that they feel a bit more trusting of than another, but generally speaking I think they would be afraid of schools reaction to that of parents being informed all the usual things that would, even though I do go to great efforts to try and reassure them that it's confidential, and I also tell them that if I was going to share anything unless it was more risky for me to not share it with them first that I would always try to share it with them before I shared it with school. I just think that there would be that fear of what would happen with things be taken out of my control

immediately. You see, it's that uncertainty I think about where it would lead. Police, you know, are the police gonna be told our social service is gonna be told and I've had that. You know, shared with me by young people that social services have have acted quite in quite heavy-handed ways about things like alcohol, parents get blamed very quickly. Which I'm not. There's no judgement there. I know that that, you know, they've got their own criteria and and expectations, but this it might, in my experience that just closes things down really, really quickly.

They just get the behaviours, and I understand schools are under huge pressure. they are, they're having to deal with its firefighting, isn't it? Constantly? But I think that what you've just said is so true. The reasons the causes, what that young person's actually covering up for and holding without even realising 'cause that's just their world. That's just normal. It doesn't even get seen; it doesn't even get seen they just get. they just get the reaction to the behaviours that that 's they're displaying because they have absolutely no capacity to cope with their lives.

the other thing is, in my experience, the kids that get sent for counselling are the kids who are attending school, the kids who are you know, they they're they're more accessible. It's easier to feel some empathy for them and put, put them down for a bit of counselling. The ones who are really, really struggling and not even making it into school don't don't get it. Because those kids need it too, this is the thing. I'm not suggesting that kids who are in school don't need it, but it, you know they're there and it. I just think I don't get to see those kids in my schoolwork because they're not there and. And that's really scary thing about it.

In my experience and I, it really, really does fluctuate. I think it's very it's very dependent on the individuals who have the power positions at schools, which in itself is wrong. It shouldn't be dependent on that. It it it's a very it's a very big blame culture as far as I can see, I think there's a there's a real urgency to pass problems over. I think there's pressure to collate evidence so that if schools are asked to justify their decisions. They've got a big folders of what they've apparently done to support young people. Most of its arbitrary. It doesn't really

	Working	reach the in person it it feels to me very quickly once you get past a certain point, even if it's not their intention, they're actually gathering evidence to justify their position and a foregone conclusion that really, they don't want that young person in their school anymore. I don't believe that once a young person has crossed a certain threshold, there's a huge motivation to understand their world or inject some compassion into their lives that they're usually fed up with them and it's quite a negative conflict driven situation. Everybody's very defensive and the young person misses out. They get missed. You can't expect a teacher to be able to offer that they've got another 20 odd kids to think about in each lesson. The difficulty school have schools have in actually adjusting themselves to even meet the needs once they've been identified.
Service capacity	Working capacity of the service	
Staff capacity	Staff are able to manage	We need to meet as a group more often. There definitely needs to be communication

	the level of need	between the staff that work on site and the staff who work in as individuals. Absolutely, the same is true for the people that are working to support young people that they need all that stuff too, they need help making sure that they don't start compromising their own selfcare in order to keep me because it's a never-ending need out there and it is quite you can quite easily get very very nook by it.
Demand for services	the amount mental health services are needed	
Role of the GP	GP awareness of services and ability to help	
appointments	making appointments fit in a young person's life	
Initial contact	Process of making the initial contact with a young person from referral	
Waiting times	how long the wait is to get help	It's just not easy to to get it. You know the waiting lists, the assessments
Gap from waitlist to treatment	The limbo between	

	making a referal and getting help	
Collaboration	The sharing of information between services, and working together for better substance misuse and mental health outcomes	it's it's a very gentle touch for me but I I'm aware that of the services that I could signpost them to and even go with them too, which is the beauty of my job. I can literally be with them and take them to places
Transition	The effect of a young people moving from child to adult services at 18	
Gaps in the system	Where the structure of systems is missing the needs of young people	I think that that drop in as well, just actually thinking about the sexual health clinic, a lot of my young people really like the, the relaxed, sort of way that they work up there, they've got very responsive nurses that usually they, they've got their you know they they contact them by text. That's working with with that as well, social media, you know, things that are accessible to young people that they can just very easily fit into their world without it feeling obtrusive or like it's asking too much of them and groups I think have got their place as well actually. But

that's very much depends on the individual, but I think that's a really good one. It can really create that really important sense of sameness instead of always feeling different and and form connections that are on new terms, which is very necessary.

It's that gap bothers me. It's a long time. My heart sinks a bit. I'm like, what am I going to, you know what resistance am I going to have to kind of ease again after six weeks of not seeing that young person?

I read about in London, I think it's the lighthouse or something say and it's like a multi-agency drop in place. So, you can go, and you can see a doctor, you can see a sexual health expert, you can see somebody about substances. You just have to go to that one place. I think God that's, that's amazing. You know, there will be some youth workers there. They'll be, it's all there in one place, like you say, so that it just just makes the most of that one amazing moment where a young person might be able to say I actually need some help. Let's get it in in as many different ways as we possibly can. Quickly.

I don't think so. I do think it's. I do think it's a crisis. I do feel very hopeless sometimes and I do think Place is an area of real need. I don't think it's, I don't think maybe even in Place, people realise quite how hard life is for a lot of families and a lot of young people here and that'll be that would be all I'd I'd say really. And I think that's only gonna get harder, to be honest. Particularly things like the the systems in place for the education or healthcare provision and all that is, it's not, it's just a joke. It's a nightmare. It shouldn't. It's not right that families are having to fight single handedly to to have their kids needs recognised. There are so many young people who are just on the street they're not at school. They're not doing anything. You only have to have a little drive around and you can just see it and that it that really is urgent.

Change in services

The structure and delivery of services changing

Actually, what I do like about the way they do things is that they are open to changing and improving all the time.

That's not true of everybody. But if that was somewhere that maybe, you know, one Saturday

		a month, there's a hub and you could go, and you can take your little sister or your little brother and there's activities. But there's also access to support. So, it's not like by going there you're waving a big flag that I've got problems in my family. You might be going just to have some toast and a cup of tea, but the people there can can point you in the right direction. So, using sort of like we've talked about that frontline position schools have. But in a way that actually serves young people and and provides some safety and acceptance for them rather than a big, bold underlining of everything they're not.
Wider SDH (Social Determinants of Health)	Other wider SDH not listed	we've had a few issues with that because the way school budgets work, they're not prepared to commit to the next school year. So, I've had to say to my mentees, you know, I don't know yet whether we are going to be seeing each other in September, but I I keep touching base and staying in touch and I have managed to arrange a few meet ups with with my clients
Young people's voice (Youth participation and input)	HCP listening to fit the young people need	





Healthwatch Swindon
Sanford House
Swindon
SN1 4HE
www.healthwatchswindon.org.uk
t: 01793 497 777

@ e: info@healthwatchswindon.org.uk